Public Document Pack
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

Governance Committee

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PUBLIC ACCESS TO REMOTE MEETINGS
During the Covid 19 pandemic virtual meetings are taking place.
PLEASE NOTE that any member of the press and public may listen to proceedings at
this virtual meeting via a weblink which will be publicised on the Council website at
least 24hrs before the meeting.
To view live paste this link into your browser:
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC7DDSVoAIgTnwgp0Ku8iFLQ

Members of the press and public may tweet, blog etc. during the live broadcast, as
they would be able to during a regular Committee meeting in the Council Offices.
It is important, however, that Councillors can discuss and take decisions without
disruption, so the only participants in this virtual meeting will be the Councillors
concerned and the officers advising the Committee.

Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?

(a)
You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.
(b)
When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, SubCommittee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:


Declare the interest if you have not already registered it



Not participate in any discussion or vote



Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with



Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of
the meeting

(c)
If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for
another person or body to deal with the matter.

Disclosable Interest
Employment, office,
trade, profession or
vocation
Sponsorship

Contracts

Land
Licences
Corporate tenancies

Securities

Description
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you
or your partner.
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council)
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election
expenses.
Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.
Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.
Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the
area of the Council for a month or longer.
Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.
Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the
Council; and
(b) either—
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of
the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that
class.
“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a
building society.

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To:
Councillors P Hogarth MBE (Chairman),
R Holt (Vice-Chairman), K Allsopp,
S Caudwell, D Cole, J Fairburn,
Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE, Mrs K Wild and
M Wilson

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121-704 6000
Deborah Merry
Tel: 0121 704 6022
Email: dmerry@solihull.gov.uk
Date Tuesday 16 March 2021

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE - Wednesday 24 March 2021
AGENDA
Mayor/Chairman of the meeting to announce:
‘May I remind everyone present that this meeting will be broadcast live via the
internet.’

1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests and conflicts of
interest from Members.

3.

QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS
To answer questions, if any, asked by any resident of the Borough pursuant to
Standing Orders.

4.

MINUTES (Pages 5 - 6)
To approve the minutes of the last meeting as a correct record.

5.

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS – 2021/22 UPDATE (Pages 7 - 112)
To consider the Council’s revised Financial Regulations and associated
documents.

6.

REVIEW OF NEW MEMBER INDUCTION PROGRAMME (Pages 113 - 118)
To seek approval of the New Member Induction Programme for 2021.

7.

NEW CODE OF CONDUCT FOR ELECTED AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS
(Pages 119 - 142)
To ask the Committee to consider the new Local Government Association Model
Code of Conduct for Elected and Co-opted Members with a view to
recommending that the Council adopts the Code, either in whole or with
modifications.

8.

INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL REVIEW OF SPECIAL
RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES FOR MINORITY GROUP LEADERS
(Pages 143 - 150)
To consider the report of the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) and make
recommendations to Council in respect of the Special Responsibility Allowances
for minority political group leaders in the Council’s Members’ Allowances
Scheme.

9.

UPDATE TO CONSTITUTIONAL STANDING ORDERS (Pages 151 - 154)
To update the Council’s Constitutional Standing Orders to reflect current
practice.

10.

RIPA – ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 155 - 160)
To provide members with an annual update on the use of RIPA powers.

Agenda Item 4
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE - 16 November 2020
MINUTES

Present:

Councillors: P Hogarth MBE (Chairman), R Holt (Vice-Chairman), K Allsopp,
S Caudwell, D Cole, J Fairburn, Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE, Mrs K Wild and
M Wilson

Officers:

Deborah Merry, Head of Legal and Democratic Services
Paul Johnson, Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive

1.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests or conflicts of interest
from Members.

2.

QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS
There were no questions or deputations.

3.

MINUTES
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting held on 23rd September 2020 be approved as
a correct record.

4.

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2019/20
The Director of Resources & Deputy Chief Executive reminded Members that on 23rd
September 2020 the Committee had approved the Annual Governance Statement for
2019/20. However it had subsequently been identified that the Statement did not
sufficiently reflect the important decision made by Full Council in October 2019 relating
to the Climate Change Declaration.
The Committee was asked to approve an amended Annual Governance Statement
(AGS) for 2019/20, as attached to the report.
RESOLVED:
That the amended Annual Governance Statement for 2019/20, attached as an
Appendix to the report be approved.

5.

CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2021/22
The Committee was invited to consider the draft Calendar of Meetings for 2021/22.
Members were advised that the draft Calendar was based on the Council’s current
governance arrangements, and could be subject to change but the Calendar had been
prepared to allow planning to take place for the 2021/22 municipal year.
RESOLVED:

Page 5

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE - 16 November 2020
That the calendar of meetings for 2021/22 be recommended to Council for
approval.

The meeting closed at 6.15 pm

Page 6

Agenda Item 5
Meeting date:

24 March 2021

Report to:

Governance Committee

Subject/report
title:

Financial Regulations – 2021/22 Update

Report from:

Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive

Report
author/lead
contact officer:

Adam Paterson, Finance Manager, Financial Cycle Team
apaterson@solihull.gov.uk 0121 704 6904

Wards affected:
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege
Public/private
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue
of paragraph:

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To consider the Council’s revised Financial Regulations and associated documents.

2.

Decision(s) recommended

2.1

To review and agree the revised Financial Regulations and other associated
guidance documents as set out in Appendices A-C, following consideration from
Audit Committee on 15 March 2021 before final approval being asked at Full
Council – with the regulations to be enforced from April 2021.

3.

Matters for Consideration

3.1

The Council’s Financial Regulations provide the framework for the authority's
financial affairs. They apply to every member and officer of the authority and
anyone acting on its behalf including partner organisations. Financial Regulations
form part of the Council's overall governance arrangements and are reviewed
annually.

3.2

All members and staff have a general responsibility for taking reasonable action to
provide for the security of assets under their control, and for ensuring that the use
of these resources is legal, properly authorised and provides value for money.

3.3

Directors are responsible for ensuring that all staff in their directorates are aware of

Page 7

the existence and content of Financial Regulations and other internal regulatory
documents and that they comply with them. Non-compliance may be dealt with
under the Council's disciplinary process.
3.4

The Council's executive arrangements detail how the council operates and makes
decisions and the constitution sets out the framework.

4.

What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about
them?

4.1

Not applicable

5.

Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1

The regulations incorporate CIPFA’s ‘A Good Practice Guide for an English Modern
Council’ and a review of the financial regulations of councils who were classed as
high performing in terms of their financial arrangements.

5.2

The scope of the regulations encompasses all relevant operations, but excludes
delegated schools and Solihull Community Housing (who have their own respective
financial regulations), to ensure an effective framework for financial management
and good governance is in place.

5.3

The regulations are reviewed and updated annually to take account of
organisational and operational changes as well as changes to processes and
procedures which are required to maintain good financial practices overall as a
Council.

5.4

This year, there has not been any significant amendments to the Financial
Regulations which, considering the challenges the Council has faced over the last
12 months with the Coronavirus pandemic, provides strong evidence that the
current regulations and governance arrangements are still working well within the
Council.

5.5

Officers have been able to ensure that the controls and regulations in place have
continued to be followed despite the significant and sudden shift to remote working
that has been experienced. There has needed to be some clarification points added
for practicality of access and where sites are open/closed but these are minor
changes about how things work in practice as opposed to fundamental changes
about the rules/approvals.

5.6

All Financial Regulations and associated documents have been reviewed to ensure
there remain strong controls and governance in those guides and regulations;

5.7



Financial Regulations (Appendix A)



Cash Handling Procedures (Appendix B)



External Funding Procedures (Appendix C)

Appendices A and B have had some minor tweaks and tracked changes shows
these changes. The most significant is in relation to the use of Purchase Cards

Page 8

(Section 33). The External Funding procedures in Appendix C have seen the most
updates, the majority of which are points of clarification considering the number of
new one off income allocations that have been received in 2020/21. However,
these regulations largely apply to funding bids, rather than funding allocations.
5.8

Audit Committee considered these documents and changes on 15 March and
following Governance Committee, Full Council will be asked to give their approval
for the revised Financial Regulations to come into effect. After which time, all
Budget Managers and Administrators will be made aware of the changes through
an appropriate communication. The Financial Regulations sections of the
Managers handbook will also be updated as a consequence of this latest version.

5.9

In addition, all staff within Financial Operations will receive an update on the
revised Financial Regulations to ensure that the advice and guidance they provide
incorporates the latest material.

6.

Implications and Considerations

6.1

State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan:
Priority:

Contribution:

Economy:
1. Revitalising our towns and local
centres.
2. UK Central (UKC) and
maximising the opportunities of
HS2.
3. Increase the supply of housing,
especially affordable and social
housing.
Environment:

The financial regulations cover all of the
Council’s priorities

The financial regulations cover all of the
Council’s priorities

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural
environment.
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality.
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon
emissions.
People and Communities:
7. Take action to improve life
chances in our most
disadvantaged communities.
8. Enable communities to thrive.
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable
provision for adults & children
with complex needs.

The financial regulations cover all of the
Council’s priorities

Page 9

6.2

Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.2.1 Audit Committee have scrutinised this report and appendices at its meeting on 15th
March and a verbal update of comments will be provided at this meeting if
necessary prior to the report going to Full Council.
6.3

Financial implications:

6.3.1 There are no financial implications as a direct consequence of this report.
6.4

Legal implications:

6.4.1 None
6.5

Risk implications:

6.5.1 Financial Regulations are part of the Council’s overall governance arrangements
and include a specific section around Risk Management in relation to the financial
arrangements of the Council. The report also details how officers are made aware
of their responsibilities in relation to Financial Regulations and how instances of
non-compliance may be dealt with.
6.6

Equality implications:

6.6.1 None
7.

List of appendices referred to

7.1

The following appendices are the revised and updated versions taking into account
the key changes above;
-

Appendix A – Financial Regulations

-

Appendix B – Cash Handling Procedures

-

Appendix C – External Funding Procedures

8.

Background papers used to compile this report

8.1

None

9.

List of other relevant documents

9.1

None

Page 10

Financial Regulations
(Updated January 2021)

Page 11

1

Financial Regulations (Updated January 2021)
Use the hyperlinks provided to move around this document or to access linked documents
and web pages as appropriate.
Contents

Page No.

Overview & Responsibilities
1. Purpose of the Financial Regulations

4

2. Introduction

5

3. The Statutory Officers

7

4. Budget Manager Responsibilities

9

5. Non-Compliance with Financial Regulations

10

Section A - Financial Management
6. Financial Management Standards

11

7. Virements

13

8. Carry Forwards

16

9. Monitoring and Forecasting

16

10. Accounting Records and Returns

18

Section B - Financial Planning
11. Revenue Budget Setting and Medium Term Planning

20

12. Final Accounts and the Accounting Statement

22

13. Capital Strategy and Capital Programmes

24

14. Maintenance of Reserves

31

15. Financial Implications of Reports

32

16. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

33

Section C - Risk Management
17. Risk Management

34

18. Internal Controls

35

19. Internal Audit

36

20. External Audit

38

21. Separation of Duties

39

22. Preventing Fraud and Corruption

40

23. Insurance

41

24. Security of Assets

43

25. Intellectual Property

46

26. Treasury Management, including Banking,
Investment, Borrowing and Bank Accounts

46

27. Petty Cash, Till Floats and Cash Advances

48

28. Cash Handling

48

Page 12

2

Section D - Financial Systems and Procedures
29. Computer Systems

49

30. Retention Policy

51

31. Income Collection

51

32. Orders for Work, Goods and Services

55

33. Purchase Cards

57

34. Expenses Claims

59

35. Staffing

60

36. Taxation

62

37. Construction Industry Scheme

62

38. Internal Recharges

63

Section E - External Arrangements
39. Partnerships

64

40. External Funding

65

41. Work for Third Parties and Shared Services

66

Section F Summary of Key Controls

Page 13

68

3

PURPOSE AND INTRODUCTION

1.

Purpose of the Financial Regulations

1.1

Why do we have Financial Regulations?
 The Financial Regulations are our commitment to sound financial management so that we
use our resources effectively and to help in our decision making.
 To make sure that Solihull MBC has a strong system of financial control.
 To make sure that Officers know what their financial responsibilities are and make them part
of their daily work.
 The Council has a statutory responsibility to have in place arrangements for managing risks
and the Local Government (Accounts and Audit) Regulations state that “A local government
body shall ensure that its financial management is adequate and effective and that it has a
sound system of internal control which facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and
includes arrangements for the management of risk”

1.2

Why do they matter to me?
 They provide rules for Officers and Members that must be complied with.
 They provide a clear basis on how to practice effective financial management.
 They are in line with best practice, adaptable to the changing world of local government.

1.3

What is the format of the regulations?
 Easy to use with a defined layout.
 Each section contains Key Controls, providing the underlying principles.
 The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive and individual Directors
responsibilities are separated.
 Hyperlinks are provided to other key documents to enable completion of specific tasks or
provide detailed guidance and support.

1.4

How often are they reviewed?
 They are reviewed annually.

Page 14

4

2.

Introduction

Purpose of the Regulations
2.1

Financial Regulations provide the framework for the Council’s financial affairs. They apply
to every Member and Officer of the Authority and anyone acting on its behalf including
partner organisations. Financial Regulations form part of the Council's overall governance
arrangements.

2.2

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive has a statutory duty to ensure the
proper administration of the Council's financial affairs (Section 151 – Local Government
Act 1972).

Scope of the Regulations
2.3

The Financial Regulations identify the financial responsibilities of Full Council, its
Members and Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board Members, the Chief
Executive, the Monitoring Officer, the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive,
other Directors and all Officers. Members and Directors should maintain a written record
where decision making has been delegated to Officers, including seconded Officers.
Where decisions have been delegated or devolved to other responsible officers,
references to the Director in the Regulations should be read as referring to them.

2.4

Centrally managed schools budgets are subject to these Financial Regulations.
These Regulations apply to schools with delegated budgets in so far as there is no
contradiction with the Scheme for the Financing of Schools, which shall take precedence
(note that no document can take precedence over the Director of Resources and Deputy
Chief Executive’ Section 151 responsibilities as described in these regulations).
In terms of applicability, where this document refers to “Director” this shall be deemed to
refer to the “Governing Body of the School or Head Teacher or other employee as
described in the School’s own scheme of delegation as permitted in the Scheme for the
Financing of Schools”.

2.5

The Regulations shall apply to all of the Council's activities (subject to Regulation 2.4
above) including any activities undertaken on behalf of third parties or under separate
financial/funding regimes.

2.6

All Members and Officers have a general responsibility for taking reasonable action to
provide for the security of the assets under their control, and for ensuring that the use of
these resources is legal, properly authorised and provides value for money.

Page 15

5

2.7

Directors are responsible for ensuring that all Officers in their Directorates comply with the
Council’s Financial Regulations and other internal regulatory documents.

2.8

All Officers should ensure that they are aware of the existence and contents of these
Financial Regulations and how they apply them to their own role and responsibilities.

2.9

The Council may take disciplinary or other action against anyone to whom these
Regulations apply but who fails to comply with them.

Structure of the Regulations
2.10

In accordance with the recommendations of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy (CIPFA) these Regulations are structured in five main sections following this
introduction:
o

Section A - Financial Management

o

Section B - Financial Planning

o

Section C - Risk Management

o

Section D - Financial Systems and Procedures

o

Section E - External Arrangements

There is an additional Section F which brings together the key controls that are shown within
Sections A – E.
2.11

This document sets out the broad framework and overview of the Council's Financial
Regulations (as outlined above). The document contains links wherever
appropriate/applicable to detailed procedural and policy documents which have been
prepared by relevant teams/Officers and are held within the Councils intranet site. This
enables these documents to be regularly updated independently of the annual review of
the Financial Regulations.

Changes to the Regulations
2.12

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive is responsible for maintaining an
on-going review of the Financial Regulations and submitting any additions or changes
necessary to Governance Committee for approval. The Director of Resources and Deputy
Chief Executive is also responsible for reporting, where appropriate, breaches of Financial
Regulations to the Council and/or to the Members.

2.13

These Regulations shall not be changed, revoked or otherwise set aside without the prior
agreement of the appropriate decision making body.

Page 16

6

2.14

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive shall comment in writing upon any
proposal to change, revoke or otherwise set aside any part of these Regulations, prior to
any decision of the Council on this matter.

Interpretation of the Regulations
2.15

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive is responsible for issuing advice
and guidance to underpin the Financial Regulations that Members, Officers and others
acting on behalf of the Council are required to follow.

2.16

The Monitoring Officer (The Head of Legal and Democratic Services) shall determine any
dispute as to the interpretation of these Regulations.

3.

The Statutory Officers

Chief Executive
3.1

The Chief Executive is responsible for the corporate and overall strategic management of
the Council as a whole. He or she must report to and provide information for the
executive, Full Council, the Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board and other
decision making bodies. He or she is responsible for establishing a framework for
management direction, style and standards and for monitoring the performance of the
Council.

The Section 151 Officer (Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive)
3.2

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive has statutory duties in relation to
the financial administration and stewardship of the Council. The statutory duties arise
from:
o

Local Government Act 1972 (Section 151)

o

Local Government Finance Act 1988

o

Local Government and Housing Act 1989

o

Local Government Act 2003

o

Local Government Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015

3.3

These statutory responsibilities cannot be overridden.

3.4

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive is responsible for:
i)

Maintaining strong financial management underpinned by effective financial controls.

ii)

Contributing to corporate management and leadership.

iii)

Supporting and advising democratically elected representatives.

Page 17

7

3.5

iv)

Supporting and advising Officers in their operational roles.

v)

Leading and managing an effective and responsive financial service.

vi)

Setting a balanced budget.

Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the Director of
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive to report to Full Council, executive and external
auditor if the Council or one of its Officers:
i)

Has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring unlawful
expenditure.

ii)

Has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has resulted or would result
in a loss or deficiency to the Council.

iii)
3.6

Is about to make an unlawful entry in the Council's accounts.

Section 114 of the 1988 Act also requires:
i)

The Section 151 Officer to nominate a properly qualified Member or Officer to
deputise should he or she be unable to perform the duties under Section 114
personally.

ii)

The Council to provide the Section 151 Officer with sufficient staff, accommodation
and other resources - including legal advice where this is necessary - to carry out
the duties under Section 114.

The Monitoring Officer
3.7

The Monitoring Officer (The Head of Legal and Democratic Services) is responsible for
promoting and maintaining high standards of financial conduct by both Members and
Officers. In conjunction with the Section 151 Officer (the Director of Resources and
Deputy Chief Executive) he or she is responsible for advising the Cabinet or Full Council
about whether a decision, or intended decision, is likely to be considered contrary to, or
not wholly in accordance with, the Council's budget. Such decisions might include:
i)

Initiating a new policy without specific budget approval.

ii)

Committing expenditure in future years above the approved budget level.

iii)

Incurring expenditure in future years without proper approval of virement.

iv)

Causing total expenditure to increase beyond a given level.

Page 18

8

Directors and Heads of Service
3.8

Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for:
i)

Ensuring that Cabinet Portfolio Holders are advised of the financial implications of all
proposals and that the financial implications have been agreed with the Director of
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive.

ii)

Ensuring that the Rules for Contract are referred to for guidance regarding the
signing of contracts on behalf of the Council.

3.9

It is the responsibility of Directors to consult with the Director of Resources and Deputy
Chief Executive and seek approval on any matters liable to affect the Council's finances
materially, before any commitments are incurred.

3.10

Each Director shall consult with the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive
regarding any matter, within their responsibility, which is liable to materially affect the
finances of the Council, before any provisional or other commitment is made and before
reporting thereon to the appropriate Cabinet Portfolio Holder.

4.

Budget Manager Responsibilities

Budget Managers must:
4.1

Ensure that they and all their Officers responsible for recruitment or incurring expenditure
and managing income, comply with the requirements of these Regulations.

4.2

Ensure that every cost centre is administered by one named Budget Manager, as
determined by the appropriate Director or Head of Service and must be a Council
employee or an approved member of an agency or consultancy.

4.3

Recognise that they are responsible for all financial commitments, expenditure and
income.

4.4

Review the regular budgetary information accessible throughout the year through the
General Ledger to enable them to fulfil their budgetary responsibilities. Please see the
Financial Systems and Control Portal.

4.5

Approve, validate and justify all expenditure.

4.6

Ensure that performance levels and activity are monitored in conjunction with the budget
and necessary action is taken to align service outputs and budget.

4.7

Make themselves aware of their responsibilities regarding their budgets.

Page 19

9

4.8

Monitor and manage their budgets (including actual expenditure and income plus
commitments against budget).

4.9

Share information and meet with colleagues from Financial Operations through the
monthly financial monitoring process, to ensure that an accurate forecast can be produced
in a timely manner to report to Directorate Leadership Teams (DLT’s), Corporate
Leadership Team (CLT) and Cabinet Portfolios.

4.10

Adhere to the corporate Rules for Contract and Contract Management guidance.

4.11

Report variances to management and their Directorate Leadership Team (DLT) with
reasons and possible mitigating actions to ensure the cash limited discipline is achieved.

4.12

Fully understand external funding regulations and accountable body status together with
grant conditions in relation to finance.

4.13

Ensure spending is within their overall cash limited budget.

4.14

Ensure that they read and understand the requirements of these Regulations and other
documentation relating to their role and comply with them.

4.15

Undertake and pass the mandatory finance training when becoming a new budget
manager and every 3 years thereafter.

4.16

Report any changes in activities which will have a material effect on their budget, through
their Directorate Leadership Team (DLT) for incorporation into Directorate budget
decisions.

5.

Non Compliance with and interpretation of the Financial Regulations

5.1

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive shall if necessary after
consultation with the Head of Audit Services (HOAS) and the relevant Director concerned
report to the Audit Committee any non-compliance with the Financial Regulations. The
Council may take disciplinary or other action against anyone to whom these Regulations
apply but who fails to comply with them.

5.2

The attention of all employees and Members is drawn to the Local Government Accounts
and Audit Regulations 2015 and the Audit Code of Practice.

Page 20

10

SECTION A FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
6.

Financial Management Standards

Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the running of the
Council, including the policy framework and budget.
These Financial Regulations are written in the context of the CIPFA Financial Management Code
(“the Code”). The Code is designed to support good practice in financial management and to
assist local authorities in demonstrating their financial sustainability. The Code therefore sets the
standards of financial management for local authorities to ensure there is appropriate Leadership,
Accountability, Transparency, Compliance with appropriate Standards, Assurance and
Sustainability.
Key Controls
 It is the responsibility of management to promote financial management standards
throughout the Council.
 Officers with a financial responsibility must read and understand Financial Regulations
and any related documents. It is each Officer’s responsibility to clarify any areas that they
do not understand with their Managers and the Officers referred to in this document.
 All Executive Members, Finance Officers and Budget Managers must operate within the
required accounting standards and timetables as determined by Professional
Accountancy Bodies and the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
6.1.

Ensure the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs.

6.2.

Advise on the key strategic controls necessary to secure sound financial management.

6.3.

Set the financial management standards and monitor compliance with them.

6.4.

Ensure proper professional practices are adhered to and act as head of professional
development in relation to the standards, performance and development of Finance
Officers throughout the Council.

6.5.

Determine and maintain an appropriate and effective system of budgetary control.

Page 21

11

6.6.

Ensure that financial information is available to enable accurate and timely monitoring and
reporting of comparisons of national and local financial performance indicators.

6.7.

Ensure suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

6.8.

Consult with the relevant Director and report to the Cabinet Portfolio Holder - Resources
any case of non-compliance with either these regulations or the authorised accounting
system.

Directors will:
6.9.

Promote the financial management standards in their Directorates set by the Director of
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive and monitor adherence to the standards and
practices, liaising as necessary with the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief
Executive.

6.10.

Promote sound financial practices in relation to the standards, levels of performance and
development of Officers in their Directorates.

6.11.

Ensure that any Officer with a financial responsibility is made aware of the standards
expected and that this will be reflected in the Council's performance management
framework.

6.12.

Maintain budgetary control within their Directorates, and ensure that all income and
expenditure is properly recorded and accounted for.

6.13.

Be responsible for ensuring that appropriate authorisation and approval procedures are
established to ensure:
i)

Management policies and plans are adhered to.

ii)

Only legitimate activities are performed.

iii)

The integrity of systems is maintained through the validation of data.

iv)

The use of assets and systems are controlled.

v)

The operation of the Council is documented and a clear audit trail is maintained.

vi)

Value for Money is achieved. Our approach to Value for Money is contained within
the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

Page 22

12

6.14.

Have available timely information on receipts and payments on each budget which is
sufficiently detailed to enable managers to fulfil their budgetary responsibilities.

6.15.

Ensure that all Officers who are responsible for committing expenditure comply with
relevant guidance and these Regulations.

Directors will also establish appropriate organisational structures to ensure:
6.16.

Work is organised to maximise efficiency in the use of resources, eliminate duplication of
effort (including the adoption of lean approaches) and maintain a disciplined control
environment whilst achieving service outcomes.

6.17.

Appropriate communication takes place in all circumstances.

6.18.

A framework for Officer development exists which fosters commitment to the Council, the
outcomes, plans and the control environment.

7.

Virements

Key Controls

 Expenditure is incurred in accordance with the estimates that make up the budget.
 Management of budgets is taken with a degree of flexibility within the overall budget
framework determined by Full Council, and therefore optimises the use of resources.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
7.1.

Ensure that effective systems and controls are in place for the administration of virements.

7.2.

Be entitled to comment on virement requests that require approval by Cabinet Portfolio
Holders prior to any decision being taken on the issue.

Revenue Virements (01 – Financial Codes) for both temporary and permanent virements.
Directors will:

Page 23

13

7.3.

Obtain the correct level of authorisation. For the purpose of this scheme, authorisation for
both temporary and permanent virements is based upon the objective (by service) or
subjective analysis (by expenditure type) within the Cabinet Portfolio budget book lines
contained within the latest version of the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

7.4.

.For budget movements within a budget book line –
i)

Up to £50,000 – Budget Managers may approve.

ii)

Over £50,000 – The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate
authorised Directorate Leadership Team (DLT) member.

7.5.

For budget movements between budget book lines within the same Cabinet Portfolio:
i)

Up to £50,000 – The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate
authorised Directorate Leadership Team (DLT) members.

ii)

Over £50,000 and up to £100,000 - The Budget Manager must obtain approval from
the appropriate Director.

iii)

Over £100,000 – The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate
Cabinet Portfolio Holder by way of a formal report.

7.6.

For budget movements between Cabinet Portfolios:
i)

Up to £50,000 – The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate
Directors.

ii)

Over £50,000 and up to £100,000 - The Budget Manager must obtain approval from
the appropriate Cabinet Portfolio Holders.

iii)

Over £100,000 – A joint report must be submitted by the relevant Directors to the
appropriate Cabinet Portfolio Holders and also the Cabinet Portfolio Holder Resources.

7.7.

Ensure that all virements are submitted to Financial Operations on a virement form and
contain the correct level of authorisation. The regular quarterly financial monitoring report
to the Full Cabinet will include a summary of all budget virements between Cabinets.
Authorisation will be obtained as appropriate.

Page 24

14

7.8.

Ensure that virements to create new reserves for specific purposes or to amend the
budgeted contribution to reserves are subject to a report by the relevant Director to the
appropriate Cabinet Portfolio Holder and the Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Resources. See
section 14 – Maintenance of Reserves for more information.

7.9.

Allow for initial grants to be exempted from the authorisation rules above. However, any
virements after the initial budget virement will be subject to the above rules.

7.10.

Allow for certain technical accountancy adjustments to be exempted from the
authorisation rules above. This is where:i)

Responsibility for a service/activity moves from one part of the Council to another,
but the purpose of the service/activity remains the same.

ii)

There are in-year changes in allocations to grant or funding arrangements.

These technical adjustments will be approved by the Head of Finance.

Capital Virements (02 – Financial Codes)
7.11.

For budget movements between capital schemes within the same Cabinet Portfolio:
iii)

Up to £100,000 – The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate
authorised Directorate Leadership Team members and notify the Director of
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive.

iv)

Over £100,000 and up to £250,000 - The Budget Manager must obtain approval
from the appropriate authorised Directorate Leadership Team member and seek
endorsement by the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive.

v)

Over £250,000 – The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate
Cabinet Portfolio Holder and notify the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief
Executive.

7.12.

For budget movements between Cabinet Portfolios:
i)

Up to £250,000 – The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate
Directors and notify the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive.

Page 25

15

ii)

Over £250,000 - The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate
Cabinet Portfolio Holders and Cabinet Portfolio Holder - Resources and also notify
the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive.

Page 26

16

8.

Carry Forwards of unspent funds

Key Control
 A consistent approach is adopted for carry-forwards.
 There are no automatic carry forward arrangements.
 There are strong governance processes in place for agreement of any carry
forwards
8.1.

The choice on whether there will be any carry forward of funding at year end will be made
by the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) when the Final Accounts report is presented to
them in May of each year. This decision will then be taken to the Full Cabinet for approval
when the Final Accounts report is presented in June each year.

9.

Monitoring, Forecasting and Reporting

Monitoring is an important tool examining spending and income patterns and trends throughout
the financial year.
Forecasting enables the Council to be made aware of key financial risks or opportunities, decide
what appropriate action is required and take that action to address the financial risk or
opportunity.
Key Controls
 Monitoring and forecasting must be completed on a regular basis for it to be effective.
 It must focus on key financial issues and be accurate, timely and relevant.
 Variances from approved budgets are highlighted by reporting through the approved
governance structure on key financial risks or opportunities by having an effective
forecast position.
 Where forecast variances exist action is taken to ensure the Council’s cash limit is not
exceeded.

Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
9.1.

Ensure that an effective monitoring, forecasting and reporting framework is in place for all
key areas of revenue and capital income and expenditure. These are decided upon in
conjunction with the criteria set in the Risk Management Policy and Procedures.

Page 27

17

9.2.

Ensure that all savings under the Medium Term Financial Strategy are monitored and their
progress reported and challenged through the agreed governance process to ensure long
term financial sustainability.

9.3.

In conjunction with Directors, submit financial monitoring reports regularly to the
Directorate Leadership Teams (DLT’s), Corporate Leadership Team (CLT), individual
Cabinet Portfolios Decision Making Sessions, Scrutiny Boards as appropriate and the Full
Cabinet.

9.4.

Ensure that performance on proposed actions to maintain the cash limit is communicated
to the appropriate decision making body on an accurate, complete and timely basis.

Directors will ensure that:
9.5.

Expenditure can only be incurred where a budget has been identified at cost centre and/or
subjective level. If the budget provision is not sufficient, a budget virement must take
place.

9.6.

Budgets and forecasts take account of spending and income trends through the year.

9.7.

Early warning is provided of deviations from targets, savings, plans and budgets that
require management attention.

9.8.

Budget Managers are aware that monitoring of expenditure and income must take place
on an on-going basis during the year.

9.9.

Budget Managers report to Financial Operations and their respective Directorate
Leadership Teams proposed corrective actions for forecast variances against their
budget. Any significant financial risks (based on the criteria set in the Risk Management
Policy and Procedures) and the resultant proposed mitigating actions should be reported
to relevant management team and Directorate Leadership Team (DLT).

9.10.

Mitigating actions on significant forecast variances are made available for the Director of
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive to review and ensure that they are appropriate
and effective throughout the year.

9.11.

When there is no need for all or part of a budget for reasons beyond their control, for
example, technical accounting measures, changes in the law, or demographic changes;
Directors shall report this in accordance with virement rules.

9.12.

Budget Managers are aware of their responsibilities.

Page 28

18

10.

Accounting Records and Returns

The Council needs to maintain accounting records as part of its statutory duties. This is
supported by Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which requires the Council to make
'arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs'. The Director of Resources
and Deputy Chief Executive is the designated Section 151 Officer.
Key Controls
 All the Council's transactions and other essential accounting information are accurately
recorded and retained in line with appropriate retention periods (see section 30 – Retention
Periods)
 Procedures are in place to enable accounting records to be maintained, held securely and
reconstituted in the event of systems failure.
 Reconciliations of feeder and stand alone systems are carried out to ensure transactions
are correctly recorded.
 Reconciliations should be completed regularly; however, the frequency will be dependent
on the system (e.g. bank reconciliations at least monthly).
 Accounting records should be properly maintained and held securely.
The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
10.1.

Be responsible for the maintenance of the Council's accounts.

10.2.

Define the authorised General Ledger and other system or process used for financial
management information purposes.

10.3.

Establish procedures for the secure and efficient processing of the receipt and issue of
monies in line with Cash Handling Procedures.

10.4.

Ensure that guidance and advice is available to the Officers of the Council and will
establish procedures necessary to secure the proper administration of the Council's
financial affairs.

10.5.

Be responsible for ensuring that financial controls operated by Directors are adequate by
ensuring that detailed financial procedures and systems are prepared, documented and
maintained, incorporating the principles of internal control.

10.6.

Be responsible for ensuring that financial systems, processes and accounting
arrangements comply with current accounting regulations (now under the International
Financial Reporting Standards) and appropriate CIPFA guidance.

Page 29

19

10.7.

Prepare and publish the audited accounts of the Council for each financial year, in
accordance with the statutory timetable and with the requirement for the Governance
Committee to approve the Statement of Accounts in line with the dates set out in
legislation.

Directors will:
10.8.

Consult with and obtain the approval of the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief
Executive before making any changes to accounting procedures or arrangements.

10.9.

Maintain adequate records to provide an audit trail leading from the source of
income/expenditure through to the accounting statements.

Page 30

20

SECTION B FINANCIAL PLANNING
11.

Revenue Budget Setting and Medium Term Planning

Key Controls

 The Council needs to plan effectively to ensure resources are allocated in accordance
with the Council’s priorities.
 The budget format will:


Comply with all legal requirements.



Comply with CIPFA’s Service Reporting Code of Practice.



Reflect the accountabilities of service delivery.

 All approved budgets will be cash limited and each relevant level of management will
manage its functions within its approved cash limit.

The Full Council will:
11.1.

Consider the budget recommendation submitted by the Full Cabinet, approve a balanced
budget and set the council tax for the Council, before the 11th March in the financial year
preceding that for which it is set.

The Full Cabinet will:
11.2.

Consider the budget proposals prepared by the appropriate Cabinet Portfolio Holders in
light of the comments from the Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board and agree
a budget and council tax recommendation to be considered by the Full Council.

The Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board will:
11.3.

Review the budget proposals relating to each of the Cabinet Portfolios, alongside
comments from the relevant Scrutiny Boards, and provide comments to the Full Cabinet.

The appropriate Scrutiny Board will:
11.4.

Review the budget proposals within their area of responsibility and provide comments to
the Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board.

Page 31

21

The appropriate Cabinet Portfolio Holder will:
11.5.

In consultation with the relevant service Director and the Director of Resources and
Deputy Chief Executive and in accordance with the laid-down guidance and timetable,
prepare detailed budget proposals in relation to their Cabinet Portfolio for consideration by
any member working group created by the Full Cabinet, prior to those proposals being
reported to Scrutiny Boards and the Full Cabinet.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
11.6.

Periodically inform the relevant level of management e.g. Directorate Leadership Team
(DLT), Corporate Leadership Team (CLT), of changes in policy, pay awards and other
events and trends affecting budgets and advise on the financial and economic aspects of
future plans and projects.

11.7.

In conjunction with CLT, determine the timetable for the preparation of Cabinet Portfolio
budget proposals, including savings options.

11.8.

Update the Medium Term Financial Strategy to reflect the latest estimates of the Council’s
funding commitments and the resources available to fund them, and determine the level of
any savings or other action required to deliver a balanced strategy over a three year
period.

11.9.

Prepare and submit reports to the Full Cabinet, or any member working group created by
the Full Cabinet for the purpose of considering the medium term financial strategy, on the
budget proposals and any savings plans put forward by each Cabinet Portfolio, identifying,
where appropriate, the implications for the level of council tax to be levied.

11.10. Calculate the council tax for each band and each area of the borough, taking into account
the level of precepts set by the relevant precepting authorities.
11.11. Report to the Council on the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the
calculation of the council tax requirement, and on the adequacy of the proposed financial
reserves.
11.12. Prepare and publish the Medium Term Financial Strategy document.
11.13. Determine the detailed form of revenue budgets and the methods for their preparation,
consistent with the total budget approved by Full Council.
11.14. Always be represented in budget meetings at the Full Cabinet, CLT and DLT level.

Page 32

22

11.15. Issue advice, guidance and procedures for Officers and others in relation to the income
and expenditure of the Council with reference to value for money.
Directors will:
11.16. Encourage the best use of resources and value for money by working with the Director of
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive to identify opportunities to improve economy,
efficiency and effectiveness.
11.17. Work with Cabinet Portfolio holders and the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief
Executive to identify savings options where required in accordance with the timetable and
the guidance determined by the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive in
conjunction with CLT.
11.18. Encourage good practice in conducting financial appraisals of development or savings
options and, in developing financial aspects of service planning, comply with any business
case/project management requirements.
11.19. Present all financial information for validation by Financial Operations on behalf of the
Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive before presentation to Members or
other decision making meetings.
11.20. Include the provision of all financial, statistical and other relevant information as is
necessary for the compilation of budgets within the approved timetable.
11.21. When drawing up draft budget requirements, have regard to:

12.

i)

Spending patterns and pressures revealed through the budget monitoring process.

ii)

Legal requirements.

iii)

Policy requirements as defined by Full Council in the approved policy framework.

iv)

Initiatives already under way and potential upcoming projects.

Final Accounts and the Accounting Statement

Key Controls
 Make arrangements for the proper administration of financial affairs and ensure that one of
the Council’s Officers has the responsibility for the administration of these affairs.
 To manage its affairs to ensure the economic, efficient and effective use of resources and
safeguard its assets.

Page 33

23

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
12.1.

Draw up the timetable for final accounts preparation and advise Officers and external
auditors of the Final Accounts guidance.

12.2.

Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent and in line with
accounting principles and practice.

12.3.

Ensure the Council’s Statement of Accounts is prepared in accordance with proper
practices as set out in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United
Kingdom.

12.4.

Sign and date the Statement of Accounts, ensuring that it gives a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Council at the accounting date and its income and expenditure for
the year ended 31 March.

12.5.

Ensure there are appropriate External Auditors appointed to carry out an independent
review of the accounts and provide an audit opinion based on them.

12.6.

Obtain full sign off of the Statement of Accounts through the agreed Governance process
by the statutory deadline.

Directors will:
12.7.

Notify the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive of outstanding income and
expenditure relating to the previous financial year as soon as possible after 31 March in
line with the timetable and guidance determined by the Director of Resources and Deputy
Chief Executive.

12.8.

Ensure that all income and expenditure is recorded in the financial year in which the
activity was incurred by fulfilling the requirements in the year end timetable determined by
the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive.

12.9.

Comply with accounting guidance provided by the Director of Resources and Deputy
Chief Executive and to supply the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive with
information as required.

12.10. Supply information required to enable the Statement of Accounts to be completed in
accordance with guidelines issued by the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief
Executive.

Page 34

24

13.

Capital Strategy and Capital Programmes

Key Controls
 The Council is required to have a separate capital strategy, which sets out the Council’s
approach to the allocation of capital resources and how this links to strategic priorities and
objectives at a corporate and service level.
 Effective systems exist for the approval of capital projects.
 The Capital Programme is updated and maintained.
 Systems and controls for application of Prudential Borrowing and ‘Spend to Save’ are
established and applied consistently.
 Control over the disposal of assets is established and adopted.

13.1.

The capital strategy sits alongside the revenue budget strategy and feeds into the annual
revenue budget by informing on the revenue implications of capital funding
decisions. The ongoing implications for the revenue budget strategy are fully considered
before any capital funding decisions are confirmed. The Capital Strategy further sets out
the Council’s approach to the allocation of its capital resources and how this links to its
strategic priorities and objectives at a corporate and service level.

13.2.

As part of approving the Capital Strategy Members receive a rolling ten year capital
programme which is regularly reviewed to ensure capital expenditure is sustainable in
terms of available funding, to ensure its continued relevance and to update it for any
significant changes in legislation or council policy, in line with the MTFS.

13.3.

Capital expenditure includes:
i)

Acquisition, reclamation, enhancement or laying out of land.

ii)

Acquisition, construction, preparation, enhancement or replacement of roads,
buildings and other structures.

iii)

Acquisition, installation or replacement of movable or immovable plant, machinery,
apparatus, vehicles and vessels.

NOTE:
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be recognised (and hence
capitalised) as an asset on a local authority Balance Sheet if, and only if:

Page 35

25

•

it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential
associated with the item will flow to the entity, and

•

the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

The Council has set a de-minimis level of £20,000. This means that any expenditure
below this level that otherwise meets the definition of capital expenditure as outlined
above should be charged to a revenue budget.
Estimating the Cost of the Asset:
13.4.

The fixed asset should be recognised at its cost (purchase price) plus any costs directly
attributable to bringing it into working condition for its intended use. These costs can also
be capitalised and would include the labour costs of the Council’s own employees (e.g.
site workers, in house architects and surveyors) arising directly from the construction or
acquisition of the specific asset.

13.5.

Capital expenditure excludes administration and general overheads along with costs that
relate to activities that take place before the intention to acquire or construct a fixed asset
has been confirmed, such as option appraisals and feasibility studies.

13.6.

In addition all expenditure must comply with the Council’s Rules for Contracts.

Corporate Capital Programme
The Corporate Programme includes all of those projects funded from:
i)

Capital expenditure supported from government grants.

ii) Corporate capital receipts.
iii) Prudential Borrowing.
13.7.

Proposed expenditure on schemes included in the approved Capital Programme will only
be incurred following the submission of an initial report to the relevant level of
management.

13.8.

All schemes on the Corporate Capital Programme require the completion of a Capital
Update Programme Form. This information will be used to maintain, monitor and update
the Capital Programme.

Page 36

26

Capital Expenditure Supported from Government Grants
13.9.

The Government provide capital support in the form of capital grant only. The grants are
announced by the relevant government department each year. Once the allocations have
been announced the Full Cabinet will be asked to approve the allocations to each Cabinet
Portfolio Holder.

13.10. Each individual Cabinet Portfolio Holder is then responsible for deciding which projects
will receive funding. Any proposed projects must demonstrate a contribution towards the
Council’s priority outcomes. The Cabinet Portfolio Holder will consider the proposals and
can only authorise expenditure within the approved allocation.
13.11. The Director should prepare a report, at least annually, to gain each Cabinet Portfolio
Holder’s approval for the schemes to be funded from this allocation.
Self Funded Capital Programme
13.12. The Self Funded Programme comprises those projects funded from:
i)

Specific grants.

ii)

Contributions from revenue and reserves.

iii)

Third party contributions.

13.13. Where self funded projects have no impact on the Corporate Capital Programme or any
revenue or match funding implications for the Council, the approval is delegated to
Directors in conjunction with the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive. This
applies up to a limit of £250,000.
13.14. For schemes with a value greater than £250,000 Cabinet Portfolio Holder approval is
required.
13.15. Where a project does have implications for the Corporate Capital Programme, match
funding requirements or revenue implications then approval from the relevant decision
making body will be required in accordance with the virement rules.
13.16. To be included on the Self-Funded Capital Programme, Budget Managers will need to
complete a Capital Programme Update Form. The level of approval will be in accordance
with the virement rules.

Page 37

27

Maintenance of Capital Programme
13.17. For the rules governing capital virements, please go to section 7.11 (or follow this link)
Capital Monitoring
13.18. See Section 9 of Financial Regulations for capital monitoring and forecasting.
13.19. Once a capital scheme has been agreed, the delivery of the capital programme is
delegated to Directors.
13.20. If required, a capital update report will be prepared for Full Cabinet to approve the rephasing of the Capital Programme. If appropriate at the year end, Corporate Capital
Programme schemes which are complete and where the budget is underspent will be
made available for re-allocation by Full Cabinet.
Final Accounts – Capital
13.21. The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will make a formal determination
on the following capital matters for the end of the financial year:
i)

Capital expenditure reimbursed by a third party.

ii)

Use of Government grant allocations in funding capital expenditure.

iii)

Use of usable capital receipts to fund capital expenditure.

iv)

The amount set aside from the revenue account for debt redemption.

v)

The use of Prudential Borrowing.

13.22. Directors will provide the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive with details of
all leases and agreements under which the Council incurs any financial liability or obtains
any financial gain.
13.23. Directors will ensure that they do not enter into arrangements for credit, such as leasing
agreements, without first obtaining the consent of the Director of Resources and Deputy
Chief Executive and, if applicable, approval of the scheme in the approved Capital
Programme.

Page 38

28

Spend to Save
13.24. Spend to Save proposals are based on providing a lump sum to finance a project that
should generate annual on-going revenue savings. These savings will then be used to pay
back the investment with any surplus being made available to fund further service
priorities.
13.25. All Spend to Save proposals must be reported to the Cabinet Portfolio Holder –
Resources for approval. The report must include a thorough and robust business case
setting out, among other things, a description of the project, the benefits it will achieve, an
estimate of costs and the savings it will generate. Potential Spend to Save projects are
subject to the following tests:
Specific Tests
i)

A maximum payback period of 5 years.

ii) At the end of the payback period total savings exceed the upfront investment by at
least 1.2 to 1 (20%).
13.26. Where a specific proposal fails to meet the minimum financial criteria outlined above,
Members reserve the right to approve a project on the basis of service delivery benefits
that will be achieved as a result of its implementation.
13.27. For projects involving Partners, the Council should obtain a written guarantee from the
appropriate body that the repayments will continue to be met in the event that
circumstances change with consequential adjustments to the management fee or
contractual commitments.
13.28. These rules only apply to Spend to Save schemes. It is not appropriate to apply this
methodology to major capital projects, the purchase of strategic assets or proposals
where the annual debt repayments are either supported by government grant or explicitly
built in to the Council’s long term budget strategy.
Prudential Borrowing – For Capital Projects
13.29. Since 1st April 2004 Local Authority borrowing for the purpose of capital expenditure has
been governed by the CIPFA Prudential Code. The code replaces the previous borrowing
regime and the Council is able to undertake further borrowing as long as it complies with
the Code and can demonstrate that it is affordable, sustainable and prudent. Each year,
Full Council is asked to approve parameters for borrowing as part of the Code.

Page 39

29

13.30. The funding of any project from Prudential Borrowing is subject to there being sufficient
headroom within the Council’s prudential indicators. In the first instance project managers
should seek early advice from Financial Operations to determine whether any resources
are available. A number of broad principles have been developed which have been
approved by the Full Cabinet:i)

Prudential Borrowing could be used (in part or potentially in full) to finance the capital
costs of the scheme.

ii) The borrowing would be based on a maximum repayment period of 50 years (or the
estimated lifespan of the asset, whichever was the shorter).
iii) This would be subject to:(a) the assets being maintained over that period to an agreed lifecycle standard,
(b) sufficient provision to cover these costs in the financial model presented as
part of any business case.
The level of Prudential Borrowing required needs to be demonstrated to be ‘affordable’
with regard to the payback period and repayments. All new Prudential Borrowing Projects
need to be reported and approved by the Cabinet Member for Resources or Full Cabinet.

Disposal of Capital Assets
13.31. Procedures should be in place to demonstrate an informed decision has taken place to
declare an asset surplus to requirements.
13.32. All land and property assets are a corporate resource. Directorates are, therefore,
required to formally advise the Joint Asset Management and Co-location Project Board of
any under-utilised or vacant properties that are surplus to requirements at the earliest
opportunity. Assets may become under-utilised or surplus to requirements for a variety of
reasons, i.e. new legislation, demographic changes, changes in service delivery
arrangements, technological innovation, budget reductions etc.
13.33. A property is deemed to be surplus to the Council’s requirements if it makes no
contribution to the delivery of the Council’s services, it has no potential for future strategic,
regeneration or redevelopment purposes, or an alternative site has been identified which
would achieve a more efficient and effective service delivery.

Page 40

30

13.34. If the Joint Asset Management and Co-location Project Board is unable to identify an
alternative use for a land or property asset that has been declared surplus to requirements
the proposed disposal of the land or property asset will need to be endorsed by the
relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder. If it is decided that the land or property should be sold
the Director responsible for the day to day management of the property and the Director of
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive are required to submit a joint 'sale
recommendation' report to the Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Resources, which should include
a valuation of the asset(s) involved as provided by the Council's Strategic Land Advisor.
13.35. Land and/or property assets that are deemed to be surplus to the Council’s requirements
are disposed of at the most appropriate time, in the best interests of the Council and
having regard to the obligation to achieve best consideration, bearing in mind other factors
such as well-being and environmental issues.
13.36. For assets of significant value, disposal should be by competitive tender or public auction
unless the Cabinet Portfolio Holder - Resources agrees otherwise.
13.37. The Strategic Land and Property Division act as the custodian of any properties that are
declared surplus to requirements. The costs involved with maintaining, securing and
disposing of a vacant property will be met from revenue budgets.
13.38. In order to assess whether assets to be disposed of are grant funded assets please refer
to the additional requirements outlined in paragraphs 24.15 – 24.20 which must be
adhered to.
Capital Receipts
13.39. Capital receipts from the sale of an asset are to be treated as a corporate resource and
can be used to repay debt or to finance further capital expenditure. If a Director wishes to
‘link’ a capital receipt to finance a particular capital scheme in the future then approval of
the Full Cabinet is required.
13.40. The Full Cabinet is responsible for deciding how corporate capital receipts are to be
utilised in line with Council priorities.

Page 41

31

14.

Maintenance of Reserves

Key Controls

 Reserves are established for specific purposes.
 A clear identification of the purpose and use of the reserve is recorded.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
14.1.

Maintain reserves in accordance with CIPFA’s “Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom, A Statement of Recommended Practice” and other
agreed accounting policies and record details on a central approved list held by Financial
Operations and available for audit inspection.

14.2.

Ensure that any amendments to the budgeted contribution or to the use of the Budget
Strategy Reserve are reported to Full Cabinet for approval.

14.3.

Advise Full Cabinet of the projected balance on the Budget Strategy Reserve over the
period of the medium term financial strategy as part of the budget setting reports.

Directors will:
14.4.

Ensure that for all new reserves or amendments to the budgeted contribution to reserves,
a report is submitted by the relevant Director to the appropriate Cabinet Portfolio Holder
and the Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Resources. Approval at Full Cabinet would be sufficient
to cover the requirement for two separate reports to be taken to the appropriate Cabinet
Portfolio Holder and the Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Resources.

14.5.

Ensure that, for each reserve established, they identify the purpose, use and basis of the
reserve in the report to Members that creates the reserve.

14.6.

Ensure expenditure from reserves is spent in accordance with paragraph 14.5 above.

14.7.

Any reserves which are no longer required or required for a different purpose must be
approved by the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive and the Full Cabinet.

14.8.

Advise Full Council in conjunction with the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief
Executive on prudent levels of reserves for the Council, and will take account of the
advice of the external auditor in this matter.

Page 42

32

15.

Financial Implications of Reports

Key Controls
 Officers should take into account all the financial effects of the actions that they undertake
or propose.
 To ensure that financial information presented in reports reflects the current and future
implications of any actions.
 Robust presentation of financial implications will aid Members and Officers to make well
informed decisions.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
15.1.

Be responsible for the agreement and signing off of financial implications in all Cabinet
Reports, ensure that reports do not state any financial implications that are not agreed
and ensure that the financial implications are complete, accurate and timely.

15.2.

Provide information to the Cabinet Portfolio – Resources where financial implications have
a corporate revenue or capital consequence.

Directors will:
15.3.

Ensure that all financial implications resulting from a proposed decision affecting cash
limits currently or in future years are identified within all reports and that such financial
implications are agreed by or on behalf of the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief
Executive.

15.4.

Ensure that where reports impact on other Directorates or have implications for corporate
resources, details of the financial implications are requested from other Directorates and
the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive in advance of the deadline required
to present the report.

15.5.

Ensure that, in all circumstances, the financial implications referred to in reports are
reflected in current budgetary provisions or the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

Page 43

33

16.

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Contingent liabilities are amounts that the Council may be liable for but the amount of which, or
timing of, cannot be accurately determined. A prudent assessment of the possible financial
impact is made. Items which could fall under this area include possible litigation costs,
compensation, costs to reimburse faulty works, etc.
Contingent assets are amounts that the Council may receive if there is a likelihood of a transfer of
economic benefit to the Council where the timing of the receipt is also uncertain.
Key Control
 Financial accounts should reflect all liabilities that will or may fall on the Council and
disclose potential financial assets that may benefit the Council.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
16.1.

Review at least annually in conjunction with the final accounts process and in consultation
with Directors, the existing contingent liabilities and assess whether the financial risk has
increased and whether the risk requires additional funds to be set aside in accordance
with CIPFA guidance.

16.2.

Take steps wherever possible, in consultation with the Chief Executive and Directors, to
minimise the risk of contingent liabilities.

16.3.

Identify potential contingent assets and decide on the appropriate disclosure
requirements.

The Chief Executive and Directors are responsible for:
16.4.

Setting up procedures and processes to minimise the risk of creating contingent liabilities.

16.5.

Reviewing their service areas at least annually for contingent liabilities.

16.6.

Informing the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive of any new contingent
liabilities and of any changes in the circumstances of existing contingent liabilities, as they
are identified.

16.7.

Informing the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive of any new contingent
assets as and when they are identified.

Page 44

34

SECTION C RISK MANAGEMENT
17.

Risk Management

Key Controls
 The Council recognises that there are risks involved in everything it does and that it has a
duty to manage these risks in a balanced, structured and cost effective way. In doing so,
the Council will better achieve its outcomes and enhance the value of the services it
provides.
 The Council’s overall Risk Management objectives are to:


Embed “sensible” risk management into the culture and decision making of the
Council.



Integrate risk management into key business processes so that the whole range
of business risks facing the Council are managed effectively.



Manage risk in accordance with best practice, whilst developing an approach
tailored to meet the Council’s local needs.



Continually identify new and future risks that may impact on the Council.



Work with partners, providers and contractors to develop awareness and a
common understanding of the Council’s expectations on risk management.

The Chief Executive and Directors are:
17.1.

Responsible for managing strategic risks and operational risks in their

individual areas of responsibility.
The Governance and Risk Management Advisor is:
17.2.

The Council’s lead Officer for risk management.

Directors will ensure that:
17.3.

Heads of Service, Service Managers and Budget Managers have specific responsibilities
to identify, evaluate and manage risk effectively in their job.
The Risk Management Policy and Procedures provides the practical guidance and
information needed to effectively implement the corporate risk management approach and
must be complied with.

Page 45

35

18.

Internal Controls

Key Controls
 The Council, through its Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) and senior managers, is
responsible for ensuring there is an effective system of governance which incorporates
appropriate internal controls. The Council must ensure that:


Business is conducted in accordance with legislation, regulations, internal
policies and proper standards.



Significant risks are appropriately managed.



Assets are safeguarded from inappropriate use, loss and fraud.



Public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically,
efficiently and effectively.



Records and processes are properly maintained.



Effective arrangements are in place for timely, relevant and reliable internal
and external reporting.

 The key elements of the internal control environment include the Council’s Vision and its
outcomes for the community, the roles and responsibilities of Members and Officers,
ethical standards of conduct and behaviour, the decision making, scrutiny and risk
management arrangements and transparent robust public accountability.
 The Council has responsibility to conduct, at least annually, a review of its governance
arrangements (including the system of internal control) and publish the results in an
Annual Governance Statement. This is a public statement of the Council’s performance
across all of its activities with a clear statement of the actions being taken to address any
areas of concern.
The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will ensure that:
18.1.

The Annual Governance Statement is co-ordinated through the Governance and

Risk Management Advisor. Assurance about the effectiveness of the system of
internal control comes from a wide variety of sources across the Council including:
i)

Directors and Statutory Officers who provide personal assurance about the
effectiveness of the controls operating in their respective areas of responsibility.

ii)

Heads of Service and Corporate System Owners who provide assurance about the
effectiveness of the controls operating in their respective areas of responsibility.

Page 46

36

18.2.

On the basis of these assurances, the Annual Governance Statement details any control
weaknesses that are viewed as significant or as being in the public interest, together with
actions for improvement.

Directors and Heads of Service will:
18.3.

Ensure that effective processes are in place to complete the Annual Governance
Statement

19.

Internal Audit

Key Controls

 Good governance arrangements are key to successful organisations. The organisation is
responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management processes,
control systems and operational procedures.
 The scope for Internal Audit includes all of the Council’s operations, resources, services and
responsibilities in relation to other bodies, and partner organisations.
 Internal Audit will produce a plan of work using a risk based approach that highlights the
main areas where audit input would be effective.

The Head of Audit Services (HOAS) will:
19.1.

Review, appraise and report on:
i)

The soundness, adequacy and application of internal controls.

ii)

The suitability and reliability of financial and other management data, including
aspects of performance measurement.

iii)

The extent to which assets and interests are accounted for and safeguarded from
loss.

19.2.

Support and encourage improvements in the efficiency, economy and effectiveness of
services.

19.3.

Investigate fraud, corruption and other irregularities where appropriate.

19.4.

Advise on internal control and risk implications to existing and new systems and projects.

Page 47

37

19.5.

Ensure that the HOAS has direct access to all Officers including the Chief Executive and
the Audit Committee Chairman and reports periodically to the Audit Committee on internal
activity, performance and planning.

19.6.

Ensure that all Internal Auditors have rights of access to all records, assets, personnel
and premises, including those of partner organisations. Internal Auditors are authorised to
obtain such information and explanations, as they consider necessary to discharge their
responsibilities.

19.7.

Have direct access to the Council’s Chief Executive and Director of Resources and
Deputy Chief Executive where he or she believes this is appropriate.

19.8.

Ensure that Solihull Audit Services is independent of all other functions of the Council
enabling an objective review of all areas of the Council’s business.

19.9.

Ensure that Internal Audit adheres to the statutory requirement to work in accordance with
“proper audit practices”. The standards adopted are those issued by the Institute of
Internal Auditors (IIA) in the form of the “Public Sector Internal Audit Standards” and the
associated guidance.

19.10. Ensure where a manager does not accept or cannot implement an audit recommendation,
this must be stated in the response given and the HOAS is responsible for assessing
whether the manager’s response is adequate. Where a response is deemed inadequate,
the HOAS will initially raise the issue with the appropriate Director. If in the opinion of the
HOAS the issue is still not resolved, this will be raised with the Chief Executive, and
ultimately the Audit Committee.
19.11. Where a manager does not respond to an audit report within an acceptable timescale, the
HOAS will report this initially to the appropriate Director and ultimately the Chief Executive
and Audit Committee where a response is still not received.
19.12. Present any audits with an assurance level of 4 or 5 to Audit Committee.
Directors will:
19.13. Establish and maintain effective management and operational systems which will reduce
the risk of any loss to the Council or its partners.
19.14. Ensure that Officers understand the reporting responsibility of Internal Audit with regard to
the effectiveness of the internal control system established under the Director’s control.

Page 48

38

19.15. Reply to draft reports within suitable timescales and attend Audit Committee as requested
to discuss actions taken in respect of level 4 or 5 audits.
19.16. Manage the risk of fraud and corruption through the promotion of effective systems of
internal control.
19.17. Report all suspected or detected fraud, corruption or other improprieties to the HOAS.
19.18. Inform the HOAS immediately of any disciplinary matter or any loss or financial irregularity
or suspected irregularity, or of any circumstances which may suggest the possibility of
losses or irregularities, including those affecting cash, stores or other property of the
Council.
19.19. Ensure that all staff are aware of the Council’s Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy
Statement.
20.

External Audit

It is management’s duty to provide an appropriate control environment, and to assess the
effectiveness of internal controls. External Audit has a wide ranging role, from expressing an
opinion on the Financial Statements, verifying the accuracy of the accounting records, reviewing
standards on corporate governance, assessing Value For Money (VFM) and auditing grant
claims.
Key Controls
 External Auditors are appointed by the Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. The
National Audit Office prepares a code of audit practice, which External Auditors follow
when carrying out their audits.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
20.1.

Establish arrangements for the external audit of the Council’s financial affairs.

Directors will:
20.2.

Ensure that External Auditors are given access at all reasonable times to premises,
personnel, documents and assets that the External Auditors consider necessary for the
purposes of their work.

Page 49

39

20.3.

Ensure that all records and systems are up to date and available for inspection.

21.

Separation of Duties

Key Control
 Adequate level of segregation of duties in all financial activities.

Directors will:
21.1.

Ensure separation occurs in relation to the duty of providing, calculating, checking and
recording sums due to or from the Council and to dispersing those sums.

21.2.

Ensure any Officer charged with the duty of examining and checking accounts or cash
transactions shall not be engaged in any of those transactions.

21.3.

This will help to ensure that:
i)

Clear lines of authority are established.

ii)

Unintentional errors have a higher chance of being detected by
independent supervisory checks.

iii)

The risk of intentional errors or loss and collusion are reduced.

iv)

All areas of work are independently supervised, validated and reconciled.

v)

Competence and accountability are promoted.

Page 50

40

22.

Preventing Fraud and Corruption

Key Control
 All fraud and corruption risks are identified and managed.
 Effective systems exist to minimise the risk of fraud and corruption.

Directors will:
22.1.

Manage and mitigate the risk of fraud and corruption through promotion of effective
systems of internal control.

22.2.

Ensure that safeguards and systems exist to reduce the risk of fraud. All Council’s
monetary transactions must be based on bona fide information and sound financial
practices.

22.3.

Report all suspected or detected fraud, corruption or other improprieties to the Head of
Audit Services.

22.4.

Inform the HOAS immediately of:
i)

Any disciplinary matter.

ii)

Any loss or financial irregularity.

iii)

Any suspected irregularity.

iv)

Any circumstances which may suggest the possibility of losses or irregularities,
including those affecting cash, stores or other property of the Council.

22.5.

Ensure that all Officers are aware of the Whistleblowing Policy.

22.6.

Comply with guidance produced on money laundering.

22.7.

Ensure that all Officers, Members and partnership organisations are aware of and comply
with Counter-Fraud and Corruption Strategy and other related policies.

Page 51

41

22.8.

Ensure Officers and Members are aware of the requirements for declaring gifts and
hospitality and interests as detailed in the Employees Handbook Code of Conduct.
Members.

22.9.

Assisted by the work performed by Internal Audit build anti-fraud measures into systems
to prevent fraud and corruption.

22.10. The Council is required to store, process and transmit payment card data (debit and credit
card data) in a secure manner which meets the requirements as laid down by the
Payment Card Industry in its Data Security Standard (PCI DSS). Card data includes but is
not limited to, card numbers, expiry date, Issue date, CVC or CVV2 code (the number on
the back of the card), and PIN numbers. You must follow the simple rules in the Payment
Card Industry Data Security Standard Policy document when dealing with card data.
23.

Insurance

Key Controls
 Protection arrangements exist which adequately cover the Council from certain liabilities
and financial losses.
 Consideration will be given to potential liabilities and financial loss that may arise from the
risks that remain following the Corporate risk management process and the most suitable
method of protection.
 If insurance cover is required it will be arranged at levels that are considered most
economically advantageous from the insurance market and the Director of Resources and
Deputy Chief Executive, where appropriate, will make arrangements for certain risks to be
self-insured either in part or full and make appropriate provision within the accounts to meet
the potential cost of these claims.
 Protection arrangements, whether insured or self-insured, will follow the terms and
conditions of the overarching insurance policy(s) that the Council has in place at the time
cover is to be provided.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
23.1.

Arrange suitable protection and keep appropriate records; in particular, they will arrange
for fidelity guarantee insurance for the due performance of the duties of any Officer
charged with the receipt, custody and/or disbursement of monies and property as required
under the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 52

42

23.2.

Periodically review the level of self–insured retention, the level of provisions and reserves
required for known and not yet known losses and the appropriate insured perils required
for Council assets.

23.3.

Periodically review the level of policy excess that must be met from service budgets based
on exposure, claims experience and provision/reserve requirements.

23.4.

Ensure procedures are in place to investigate claims within required timescales.

Directors will:
23.5.

Ensure compliance of the Insurance Act 2015 and the Duty of Fair Presentation in respect
of any request or alteration of insurance cover or assessment of exposure to risk for any
service provision or asset during any period of insurance cover or at the request by the
Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive upon renewal or alteration to insurance
cover that may be required.

23.6.

Ensure that any disclosure of risk is made in a manner which is reasonably clear and
accessible and cooperate with any reasonable request for information that may be
required by the Council’s Insurer(s).

23.7.

Notify the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive of new risks the Directorate
will be undertaking by way of new activities or service provision or any alterations affecting
existing risks, potential liabilities or insurance.

23.8.

Notify the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive of new assets such as
property, vehicles or other valuable items regardless of whether insurance cover is
anticipated to ensure that appropriate arrangements can be assessed and put in place as
determined. Asset and major risks should be notified in advance of cover being required.

23.9.

Notify the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive immediately of any loss,
liability or damage that may give rise to a claim against the Council, together with any
information or explanation required by the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief
Executive or the Council’s insurers.

23.10. Consult the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive on the terms of any
indemnity that the Council is requested to give.

Page 53

43

23.11. Consult the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive on any partnership or
agreement for the provision of services that may be considered to ensure that any terms
on indemnity, liability or insurance are appropriate and/or does not conflict with the terms
and conditions of any Insurance Policy that the Council may have in place.
23.12. Ensure that employees, or anyone covered by the Council’s insurances, do not admit
liability or make any offer to pay compensation that may prejudice the assessment of
liability in respect of any insurance claim.
23.13. Ensure that employees, or anyone connected with the delivery of services covered by the
Council’s protection arrangements, do nothing that breaches the terms and conditions of
these policies and would lead to the voiding of the cover or additional terms subsequently
being applied.
23.14. Ensure that full cooperation and accessibility is provided upon the reasonable request of
the Council’s Insurance Services Team or insurer(s) regarding a service provision or
assessment of an asset which may include physical surveys and / or discussion with the
Insurer.
23.15. Ensure compliance of any policy terms, conditions or warranties of any policy of insurance
that may be in force including any terms or requirements following additional review or
survey by the Council’s Insurance Services Team or insurer(s).
24.

Security of Assets

Key Controls
 Resources are available for use when required.
 The Council has identified business continuity plans for implementation in the event of
disaster that results in significant loss or damage to its resources.
 Assets are:

•Safeguarded.
•Used efficiently and effectively.
•Adequately maintained and recorded.
The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
24.1.

Ensure that assets are valued in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement of Recommended Practice.

Page 54

44

24.2.

Maintain an asset register for land and buildings.

24.3.

Provide a format for an asset register.

Directors will:
24.4.

Ensure all Officers utilise resources efficiently and effectively to fulfil the Council’s
outcomes.

24.5.

Ensure that Officers safeguard the Council’s assets and information, including the
requirements of the Data Protection Act 2018 and software copyright legislation and to act
appropriately in respect of data confidentiality issues.

24.6.

Ensure lessees and other prospective occupiers of Council land are not allowed to take
possession of or enter the land until a lease or agreement, in a form approved by the
Director in consultation with the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive, has
been signed by relevant parties.

24.7.

Consult the relevant division/team, such as Human Resources, Internal Audit, Health and
Safety or Insurance, in any case where security is thought to be defective or where it is
considered that special security arrangements may be needed.

24.8.

Ensure keys to safes, buildings, etc. are kept to a minimum and carried on the person of
those responsible at all times. The loss of any such keys must be reported to the Director
of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive as soon as possible.

24.9.

Maintain inventories of equipment:
i)

Where assets are identified, which records their location and ensures that they are
visibly marked and insured.

ii)

Which are reviewed and updated at least annually.

iii)

Of assets which are purchased with grant monies on a separate inventory and are
transferred to the main inventory if the assets do not need to be returned once the
grant claim has been formally accepted as satisfactory.

24.10. Ensure assets funded from grants are used and disposed of in accordance with any grant
conditions specified by the awarding Body.
24.11. Make arrangements for the care and custody of stocks and stores.

Page 55

45

24.12. Ensure stocks are maintained at reasonable levels and are subject to a regular
independent physical check, at least annually. All discrepancies should be investigated
and pursued to a satisfactory conclusion.
24.13. Assets (not land and/or property) and inventory items that are deemed to be surplus to the
Council’s requirements are disposed of at the most appropriate time, in the best interests
of the Council and having regard to the obligation to achieve best consideration, bearing
in mind other factors such as well-being and environmental issues.
24.14. Assets should be disposed of by seeking three quotations and by selecting the quotation
which provides best value (i.e. highest price). Social value should be considered as part of
the disposal of assets.
Employees, Budget Managers and Directors will:
24.15. Ensure assets funded from grants are used and disposed of in accordance with any grant
conditions specified by the awarding Body.
24.16. Be aware that any assets that have been funded by external grants are subject to strict
conditions relating to their use and retention (as non-compliance can result in the Council
paying back all or part of the grant funding received).
24.17. Consult the Grant Funded Asset Register section of Solmaps available within the intranet
as soon as they become aware of any plans to sell, dispose, lease or change the use of
an asset. This facility details by location all identified grant funded assets and the
conditions associated with their use and retention periods. To view follow the link: Grant
Funded Assets
24.18. Consult with their contact within Financial Operations, for advice and further information, if
they become aware of any change of use of assets before any decision on the change of
use is formalised.
24.19. Adhere to the requirement that all disposals, transfers or change of use to an asset
require approval from the Joint Asset Management and Co-location Project Board. For
disposal, please specifically refer to Paragraphs 13.31 – 13.38 of the Financial
Regulations which must be adhered to.
24.20. Ensure that if the asset is detailed within the relevant area of Solmaps and is therefore
subject to conditions, that prior approval is obtained from the relevant funding body before
any action is taken in relation to the asset in question.

Page 56

46

25.

Intellectual Property

Key Control
 In the event that the Council decides to become involved in the commercial exploitation of
inventions or intellectual property, the matter should proceed in accordance with the
directions of the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive and the relevant Director
involved and in agreement as to the procedures that should be followed.
26.

Treasury Management, including Banking, Investment, Borrowing and Bank
Accounts

Key Control
 Borrowings and investments of the Council comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on
Treasury Management, the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities
and the Council’s Approved Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Treasury
Management Practices.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
26.1.

Create and maintain, as cornerstones for effective treasury management:
i)

Suitable Treasury Management practices (TMP’s) setting out the manner in which the
organisation will seek to achieve those policies and objectives and prescribing how it
will manage and control those activities.

ii) A treasury management strategy statement, stating the policies, objectives and
approach to risk management of its treasury management activities.
26.2.

Be responsible for the execution and administration of treasury management decisions
and will act in accordance with;
i)

the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management,

ii) the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities, and
iii) the Councils approved policy statement and treasury management policies.

Page 57

47

26.3.

Produce reports for Audit Committee and Full Council on its treasury management
policies, practices and activities including, as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in
advance of the year, a mid year review and an annual report after its close, in the form
prescribed in its treasury management policies.

26.4.

Produce reports for Members of Audit Committee regarding the implementation,
monitoring and scrutiny of treasury management policies and practices.

26.5.

Be responsible for opening and closing bank accounts as necessary. Separate business
bank accounts for service areas should not be necessary unless there are certain
conditions that need to be satisfied. These exceptions can only be agreed by the Director
of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive.

26.6.

Operate such bank accounts and maintain the related bank mandates necessary for the
efficient allocation of funds.

26.7.

Ensure that all investments of money are made in the name of the Council or in the name
of approved nominees.

26.8.

Effect all borrowings in the name of the Council.

26.9.

Act as the Council’s registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages and maintain records of all
borrowing of money by the Council.

26.10. Be in control of all money in the hands of the Council aggregated for the purposes of
treasury management.
Directors will:
26.11. Arrange for all trust funds to be held, wherever possible, in the name of the Council. All
Officers acting as trustees by virtue of their official position shall deposit securities, etc.
relating to the trust with the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive, unless the
deed otherwise provides.
26.12. Ensure that loans are not made to third parties and that interests are not acquired in
companies, joint ventures or other enterprises without the approval of the Director of
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive and any other additional approvals as may be
required.
26.13. Ensure that loans, leasing or rental arrangements are not entered into without prior
agreement from the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive.

Page 58

48

27.

Petty Cash, Till Floats and Cash Advances

Key Controls
 Only minor expenditure is incurred.
 Floats are maintained at the level that has been authorised.
 Regular reconciliation of cash held is undertaken.
 All cash must be locked away to safeguard against loss or theft.
 Proper control is exercised over cash advances.

Directors will:
27.1.

Ensure the Petty Cash and Cash Advance Procedures are fully complied with.

28.

Cash Handling

Key Controls
 To safeguard cash assets and protect them from misappropriation.

Directors will:
28.1.

Ensure Cash Handling Procedures are fully complied with.

Page 59

49

SECTION D FINANCIAL SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES
29.

Computer Systems

Directorates are dependent on computer systems for financial management information. The
information must therefore, be accurate and the systems and procedures effective and well
administered. They should contain controls to ensure that transactions are properly processed
and errors detected promptly.
Key Controls
 Basic data exists to enable the Council’s outcomes, targets, budgets and plans to be
formulated.
 Performance is communicated to the appropriate managers on an accurate,
complete and timely basis.
 Early warning is provided of deviations from target, plans and budgets that require
management attention.
 Operating systems, procedures, computer equipment and software are secure. See
ICT Security – a guide for employees.
 Effective contingency arrangements must be in place, including back-up procedures,
for computer systems. For more information see the ICT Strategy.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
29.1.

Determine the accounting systems, form of accounts and supporting financial records
required.

29.2.

Approve any new financial systems to be introduced in conjunction with Internal Audit.

29.3.

Maintain a scheme of delegation identifying Officers authorised to act upon the Directors
behalf for payments, income collection and placing orders, including variations, and
showing the limits of their authority.

29.4.

Approve any changes to be made to existing financial systems in conjunction with Internal
Audit.

Page 60

50

The Head of ICT and Information Governance will:
29.5.

Ensure that central IT systems for the electronic processing of data/information enable the
Council to carry out transactions as specified by and agreed with key users in an
accurate, complete and timely manner.

29.6.

Ensure that the security provisions of central computer services reasonably protect the
Council and other persons from inappropriate use or misuse of any financial and other
information held on the Council’s computer files.

Directors will:
29.7.

Ensure that systems are documented and Officers are fully trained in operations.

29.8.

Supply authorised Officer signatories in accordance with the Council’s expenditure
authorisation hierarchy.

29.9.

Ensure all input is genuine, complete, accurate, timely and not previously processed.

29.10. Ensure that a complete audit trail, allowing financial transactions to be traced from the
accounting records to the original document and vice versa, is maintained.
29.11. Ensure Officers adhere to Information Governance - Policies & Procedures
29.12. Ensure Officers adhere to ICT Policies.
29.13. In relation to computer systems other than those operated under ICT, be responsible for
ensuring that:
i)

Adequate data controls exist to provide for the security of applications during data
processing.

ii)

The requirements of the Data Protection Act 2018 (General Data Protection
Regulations) are met.

iii)

Access is restricted to authorised Officers.

Page 61

51

30.

Retention Policy

Key Control
 Prime documents are retained in accordance with legislative and other requirements.

Directors will:
Ensure the proper creation, management, storage and disposal of financial documents in
accordance with the requirements set out in SMBC's Retention Schedule and SMBC's
Records Management Policy
31.

Income Collection

Key Control
 All income due to the Council is identified.
 All income due to the Council is collected and monitored.
 All income is banked in a timely manner.
 Income is not offset against the same subjective code as expenditure.
 Compliance with the corporate fees and charges framework
The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
31.1.

Agree arrangements for the identification and collection of all income due to the Council.

31.2.

Approve procedures, systems and documentation relating to income collection and
subsequent banking of income. Any changes to these systems must be agreed with
Internal Audit.

31.3.

Establish a corporate fees and charges framework for the supply of goods or services
and review it regularly.

Directors will:
31.4.

Ensure that all income streams within their Directorate are identified.

31.5.

Allocate responsibility for the collection, banking and monitoring of income streams as
appropriate.

Page 62

52

31.6.

Establish service specific charging policies where appropriate and review them regularly
in line with the corporate fees and charges framework.

31.7.

Provide receipt books, tickets, and other forms or documents (electronic or otherwise) to
be used to officially acknowledge or record amounts received or receivable.

31.8.

Ensure income is not used to cash personal cheques or make other payments. All income
received must be banked in full.

31.9.

Ensure systems are in place to prevent staff from ‘borrowing’ income with the intention of
replacing it at a later date.

31.10. Ensure systems are in place to reconcile income due with income banked. Local
management must investigate any variances and significant variances must be reported
to Internal Audit for investigation. Small regular variances should be monitored by local
management and reported to Internal Audit, where necessary.
31.11. Use Internal Remittance pads to record all internal cash transactions (these are available
from Financial Operations).
31.12. Only use the Accounts Receivable system for raising debts owed to the Council.
31.13. Where practical, ensure every sum of money received by any Officer is immediately
acknowledged by the issue of an official receipt, ticket or voucher (electronic or
otherwise).
31.14. Ensure that every transfer of monies from one Officer to another is immediately
acknowledged by their signatures on an appropriate record.
31.15. Ensure all monies (including cheques) received on behalf of the Council in any Directorate
are deposited either with Solihull Connect, directly with the Council's bankers or via the
Council’s appointed security company. All monies must be deposited daily, except where
the weekly receipts do not exceed £500, in these instances bankings should be made
each week.
31.16. Ensure that all bankings prepared for collection by the Council’s appointed security
company are checked by two people. The paying-in-slip must be signed to that effect prior
to sealing the security company’s banking bag.
31.17. Ensure that all banking bags are handed to and signed for by genuine security company
employees.

Page 63

53

31.18. Ensure that all Officers who bank cheques enter a reference on the paying-in-slip that
connects the cheque to the debt or debts against which it was received. Where the
cheque does not relate to a discharge or partial discharge of a debt, details of the payee
and all relevant information must be entered on a paying-in-slip.
31.19. Ensure that for all bankings made there is a check by an Officer independent of the
paying-in-process to ensure that all income is posted correctly on the General Ledger.
31.20. Review potential risks in relation to the collection of income.
31.21. Should refunds be required against payment made by credit card, such refund should only
be made by a refund to the same card (i.e. not by cash or cheque).
Bad Debts:
Directors will:
31.22. Maintain a record of all outstanding debts through the use of the Accounts Receivable
system or debtor income systems (e.g. Northgate) and follow up all unpaid debts to
ensure they are resolved as quickly as possible. Where appropriate, amounts due should
be collected in advance of provision of goods or services to minimise the risk of bad debt.
31.23. Notify Financial Operations of any potential for bad debts.
31.24. Ensure adequate provision is made for bad debts.
31.25. Ensure effective action is taken to pursue non-payment within defined timescales.
Raising Sundry Income Accounts
Directors will:
31.26. Provide the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive with all relevant
information required to raise Sundry Income accounts via the Accounts Receivable
system. The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive can approve
arrangements for Sundry Income accounts to be raised by the spending Directorates,
where appropriate.

Page 64

54

31.27. Ensure that VAT on Sundry Income accounts, including Sundry Income accounts raised
by individual Directorates, is applied at the appropriate rate. Financial Operations can give
advice relating to VAT.
Write offs
Directors will:
31.28. Ensure that formal approval for any debt write-off is obtained in accordance with the latest
Officer delegations or obtain approval from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Resources
where the write off exceeds that level delegated to appropriate Officers.
31.29. Ensure that assistance is provided to the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief
Executive in collecting debts that they have originated, by providing any further
information requested by the debtor, and in pursuing the matter on the Council’s behalf.
Fees and Charges
In line with the Council’s fees and charges framework, Budget Managers will:
31.30. Review the charges in their service area each year as part of the preparation for the
following year’s budget process. This includes considering the potential for any new
charges.
31.31. Consult with service users and stakeholders about any significant changes proposed to
charges in their service area.
31.32. Seek approval for new charges or variations to existing charges in line with the Council
Leader’s delegation scheme.
31.33. Ensure reports to Members seeking approval for charging decisions include all the
information required by the Framework.
31.34. Ensure that where charging proposals reported to Members do not meet the principles
outlined in the framework the reasons for this are explicit in the report.

Page 65

55

32.

Orders for Work, Goods and Services - The Procure to Pay process

Key Controls
 All goods and services are ordered by authorised Officers and only to facilitate the
operations of the Council.
 All orders are raised (in advance) only with an approved supplier or contractor.
 Refer to Rules for Contract for further details.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
32.1.

Agree the form of official orders and associated terms and conditions.

32.2.

Define the requirements for approving the requisitioning of orders through the expenditure
authorisation hierarchy which sets out who can approve purchase requisitions across the
Council. Generally the expenditure authorisation hierarchy will allow the following officers
to approve requisitions up to the following values:
Budget Manager level

£50,000

Senior Officer level (relevant to a particular job role/project)

£250,000

Head of Service

£1,000,000

Assistant Director

£2,500,000

Director

£5,000,000

Chief Executive

£5,000,000

32.3. Inform the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive of changes to the expenditure
authorisation hierarchy. The expenditure authorisation hierarchy will be maintained by the
Financial Operations division but responsibility for reviewing and updating it is with the
Directorate Leadership Teams (DLT) on a quarterly basis in conjunction with the Financial
Operations division.
32.4. There may be circumstances where the limits are agreed to be lower or higher, depending
on the specific business need at the time. These will need to be agreed and regularly
reviewed with the Directorate Leadership Team (DLT) and in conjunction with the
Financial Operations division.
32.5.

Ensure that there are adequate arrangements for the subsequent validation, checking and
certification of invoices prior to payment to confirm that the goods or services have been
ordered, receipted, are correctly priced and passed for payment by the nominated Budget
Manager.

Page 66

56

32.6.

Provide advice on making payments by the most cost effective means.

32.7.

Make payments from the Council’s funds on a Director’s authorisation ensuring that the
expenditure has been duly incurred in accordance with these Regulations.

32.8.

Make payments to suppliers or contractors on the certificate of the appropriate Director,
which must include details of the value of work, retention money, amounts previously
certified and amounts now certified. All final accounts for capital projects must be
validated prior to the final payment.

32.9.

Withhold payment of any sums due to any person where the requirements of any
Standing Order, Rule or Regulation of the Council have not been fully observed. Payment
can be held up until the matter has been resolved.

32.10. Agree, where appropriate and in consultation with Directors, any changes to existing
financial systems and give approval to any new systems before they are introduced.
Directors will:
32.11. Ensure that the Council’s corporate financial systems are used for the requisitioning,
ordering, receipting and payment of work, goods and services except where specialist
systems are used in agreement with the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief
Executive.
32.12. Where specialist (third party) systems are used following the agreement of the Director of
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive they should be used in conjunction with Oracle
and they should replicate the requisitioning, ordering and receipting stages of the Oracle I
Procurement ‘procure to pay’ process. The third party system must fully align to and
interface with Oracle and accurately reflect the requisitioning, ordering and receipting
stages in order to evidence the correct authorisation process and ultimately to generate
the correct payment from Oracle.
32.13. Ensure that official orders are only used for goods and services provided to their
Directorates. Individuals must not use official orders to obtain goods or services for their
private use.
32.14. Ensure there is budget provision for all orders raised.
32.15. For payment requests without an invoice, ensure that the Non invoiced payment request
(T13) guidance is followed and the T13 is prepared by a trained Finance Administration
person and approved by a relevant Budget Manager within their authorisation limits.

Page 67

57

32.16. For payment schedule requests, ensure that the schedule is prepared by a trained
Finance Administration person and approved by a relevant Budget Manager within their
authorisation limits.
32.17. Ensure that only those Officers authorised by the Chief Executive or Directors approve
orders electronically.
32.18. Ensure that goods and services are independently checked on receipt to verify that they
are in accordance with the order.
32.19. Ensure that payment is only made after a VAT invoice has been received, checked, and
certified for payment. Faxed and scanned copies of invoices are acceptable.
32.20. Ensure that payments are not made in advance of goods being supplied, work done or
services rendered to the Council except with the prior approval of the Director of
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive. . In most cases, the approval for any payments in
advance should be secured through the Procure to Pay process.
32.21. Ensure that all undisputed invoices are paid within 10 days to Small and Medium Size
Enterprises and 28 days to other organisations from the receipt of the invoice, or other
such target as may be set by the Council.
32.22. Ensure that all service areas can demonstrate Value for Money from contractors and
suppliers by obtaining competitive prices and appropriate quality using guidance
contained in the Council’s Procurement Strategy, utilising the purchasing procedures
outlined in the Council’s Rules for Contract.
32.23. Ensure that once contracts have been approved that there are robust arrangements in
place for on-going Contract Management in line with guidance issued by the Corporate
Procurement Team.
Guidance on how to process invoices can be viewed at the Payments Team web page.
33.

Purchase Cards

Key Controls
 All goods and services are only procured for the operations of the Council.
 Purchase cards are used only by authorised Officers.
 Should not be used for suppliers were corporate contracts already exist
 Transactions are correctly coded.

Page 68

58

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
33.1.

Provide guidelines in relation to the use of purchase cards.

33.2.

Sanction the withdrawal of cards in the event of non-compliance with the Financial
Regulations or in accordance with the criteria as set out in the Purchase card IExpenses
escalation policy.

33.3.

Require that anyone who has been a cardholder who has had their card withdrawn due to
non-compliance will not be able to re-apply for a card.

Directors will:
33.4.

Ensure that Officers sign and comply fully with the guidelines and the Employee
Agreement for the security and administration of purchase cards.

33.5.

Ensure that the issue of purchase cards is recommended by Officers as detailed in each
Directorate’s Scheme of Delegation.

33.6.

Ensure that Officers provide adequate budget to cover the use of purchase cards and that
the cards are used for appropriate purchases, as defined by the Director of Resources
and Deputy Chief Executive.

33.7.

Ensure that purchase cards are retained securely by the card holder at all times (i.e. not to
be kept in a safe or locked drawer within your working environment).

33.8.

Ensure that the card holder takes responsibility for making sure a reconciliation of the
Purchase card iExpenses is completed by the card holder monthly upon receipt and that
any errors are identified and followed through to a satisfactory conclusion.

33.9.

Ensure that the reconciled Purchase card iExpenses is authorised by the Budget Manager
(including Head Teacher) (as detailed in the Directorate’s Scheme of Delegation) on a
monthly basis.

33.10. Ensure that the Officers supply VAT receipts and correctly reconcile to ensure that VAT
can be claimed on purchase card transactions.

Page 69

59

33.11. Notify Internal Audit of any fraudulent transactions.
34.

Expense Claims

Key Controls
 All expenses claimed through Oracle iExpenses must be approved electronically by the
relevant Budget Manager.
 All expense claimed using a paper claim form must be approved the relevant Budget
Manager.
 All expense claims must be accompanied with a valid VAT receipt to allow the claim to be
processed

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
34.1.

Provide guidelines in relation to claiming expenses.

Directors will:
34.2.

Ensure that employees use the appropriate method of claiming depending on the expense
that has been incurred. This will either be through Oracle i-Expenses or the paper claim
form. See the Pay and Expenses page on the Intranet and ensure the employee seeks
appropriate and correct approval. If their supervisor is not their Budget Manager then they
must also go to their Head of Service/Budget Manger for approval.

34.3.

The supervisor and the Budget Manager need to ensure that they are satisfied with the
content of the claim before signing it. If they are not satisfied they will need to query the
content with the claimant before approving it.

35.

Staffing

Key Controls
 A staffing strategy and policy exists, in which staffing requirements and budget allocations
are matched annually.
 HM Revenue & Customs regulations are complied with.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:

Page 70

60

35.1.

Ensure Members’ allowances are authorised in accordance with the scheme adopted by
Full Council Members Allowances.

The Head of Human Resources will:
35.2.

Ensure that all appointments are made in accordance with the Council’s procedures and
legal requirements, approved establishments, grades and scales of pay.

35.3.

Be responsible for the general control and payment of all salaries and pensions and will
prescribe, in consultation with the appropriate Director, the detailed procedure for the
preparation and certification of time sheets.

35.4.

Be responsible for the arrangements for the correct allocation of these costs within the
Council's accounts.

35.5.

Make arrangements for the recording and the accurate and timely payment of Income
Tax, National Insurance, pensions and all other statutory and non-statutory payroll
deductions.

35.6.

Act as an advisor, where appropriate to Directors on payroll issues, including Income Tax,
National Insurance pension contributions.

35.7.

Make arrangements for paying Member’s and Officer’s travel and/or other allowances
upon either receipt of the required form, duly completed and authorised or a properly
authorised on-line claim.

35.8.

Ensure that all appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored for the defined
period in accordance with the document retention schedule.

35.9.

Be responsible for the timely and reasonable checking of payroll and recovery of
outstanding overpaid payroll.

35.10. Ensure the accurate and timely production of all statutory returns to HM Revenue and
Customs, particularly in respect of the financial year-end and the declaration of employee
taxable benefits.
Directors will:
35.11. Be responsible for the notification of the cost code to which employees are to be charged.

Page 71

61

35.12. Monitor Officer activity to ensure adequate control over such costs as sickness, training
and temporary staff.
35.13. Comply with the Council’s Severance Scheme for Early Retirements & Redundancies.
Information about this can be obtained from HR and Financial Operations.
35.14. Notify the Head of Human Resources of all appointments, resignations and absences
(due to sickness or unpaid holidays/leave) or any other circumstances affecting the
remuneration of employees. Such notifications should be signed by an authorised Officer.
This signature confirms the validity of the amendment and certifies that all relevant
Council procedures have been complied with.
35.15. Notify Payroll of any amendments to authorised Officer signatures immediately.
35.16. Ensure that adequate and effective systems and procedures are operated, so that:
i)

Payments are only made to bona fide employees where there is a valid entitlement.

ii)

Conditions and contracts of employment are correctly applied.

iii)

Employees’ names and contact details listed on the payroll are checked at regular
intervals to verify accuracy and completeness.

iv)

Payroll transactions are processed only through the Council’s payroll system.

v)

Staff are not engaged on a self-employed basis. Where Directorates consider doing
this, they should contact HR to ensure all relevant regulations are met regarding
their employment status and any required returns submitted to the appropriate
Government department(s).

vi)

The Appointment of Consultants form is completed for all consultants and approved
by the Directorate’s Finance Manager and the Corporate Procurement Manager
before appointment.

36.

Taxation

Key Controls
 Budget Managers are provided with relevant information and kept up to date on tax issues.
 Officers must reclaim VAT where possible.
 Budget Managers are issued with guidance on record keeping.

Page 72

62

 All taxable transactions are identified, properly carried out and accounted for within
stipulated timescales. Advice can be obtained on tax issues from Financial Operations.
Guidance is also available on the Intranet – VAT Manual

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
36.1.

Be responsible for the timely submission of all appropriate returns to HM Revenue and
Customs.

36.2.

Maintain up-to-date guidance for Council employees on taxation issues (see above for
links to VAT Manual).

Directors will:
36.3.

Ensure that the correct rate of VAT is applied to all income and that the VAT recoverable
on purchases complies with HM Revenue and Customs Regulations.

36.4.

Ensure that all methods of payment are conducted with VAT rules and regulations in
mind, including, but not limited to, requesting and retaining appropriate receipts/invoices.

36.5.

Ensure records are maintained in accordance with instructions.

37.

Construction Industry Scheme

Key Controls
 The Construction Industry Scheme (CIS) criteria are upheld.
 The CIS Officer will maintain a list of contractors listed under CIS.
The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
37.1.

Ensure the appropriate VAT treatment of CIS registered companies as part of the
Domestic Reverse Charges legislation.

Directors will:
37.1.37.2. Ensure that where construction and maintenance works are undertaken, the
contractor fulfils the necessary CIS criteria and is registered on the list of sub-contractors
held by the CIS Officer.

Page 73

63

37.2.37.3. Ensure payments for 'construction operations' are not made to subcontractors who
are not registered with HM Revenue and Customs and that income tax deductions from
subcontractors' payments must be made where necessary by the CIS Officer.
37.3.37.4. Adhere to CIS regulations since failure to do so could lead to financial penalties being
incurred by the Council.
38.

Internal Recharges

Key Control
 Internal Recharges must reflect the internal resources utilised in delivering the service.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
38.1.

Recharge for support services in accordance with the latest CIPFA Accounting Code of
Practice for both budget and final accounts purposes.

38.2.

Effect Internal Recharges in accordance with laid down timetables.

38.3.

Arbitrate on disputed recharges where these cannot be satisfactorily resolved between
Directorates.

Directors will:
38.4.

Notify and/or respond to disputed recharges in accordance with the timescales laid down.

38.5.

Monitor the processing of recharges in accordance with the timetable agreed with the
Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive.

Page 74

64

SECTION E EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS
39.

Partnerships

Key Controls
 To ensure that effective governance arrangements are in place.
 To ensure that risk management processes are in place to identify and assess all known
risks in line with the Risk Management Policy and Procedure.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
39.1.

Advise on an appropriate financial framework.

39.2.

Ensure that appropriate controls are in place so that resources are used effectively.

Directors will:
39.3.

Comply with their responsibilities under the Council’s Financial Regulations, Rules for
Contracts and Principles of Good Governance for Partnerships in Solihull when
undertaking any form of partnership arrangement and/or legislation agreement e.g.
Section 31 the Partnership Agreement must be adhered to.

39.4.

Inform the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive about any proposed
partnerships.

39.5.

Maintain a register of contracts entered into with external bodies in accordance with
procedures specified by the Corporate Procurement Manager.

39.6.

Ensure that, before entering into agreements with external bodies, a risk management
appraisal has been prepared for the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive in
line with the Partnership Risk Management guidance. This should include, where
appropriate, an early meeting of key stakeholders, including relevant Members, financial
and legal representatives to assess risks.

Page 75

65

39.7.

Ensure that such agreements and arrangements do not impact adversely upon the
services provided or planned to be provided by the Council.

39.8.

Ensure that all agreements and arrangements are properly documented including a final
agreed copy signed by all connected parties.

39.9.

Provide appropriate information to the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive
to enable a note to be entered into the Council’s Statement of Accounts concerning
material items.

39.10. Not engage in partnership arrangements that result in the Council becoming the
“Accountable Body” without securing endorsement from the Director of Resources and
Deputy Chief Executive.
39.11. Where budget implications exceed £1m an early meeting of key stakeholders, including
relevant Members, financial and legal representatives, is required to assess risks.
40.

External Funding

Key Controls
 Ensure that funds are acquired only to meet the Council’s priorities.
 Ensure that grant conditions are met to avoid the risk of claw back.
Guidance on External Funding is available from the Financial Operations Guides and Information.
The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive will:
40.1.

Ensure that all funding notified by external bodies is received and properly recorded in the
Council’s accounts.

40.2.

Ensure that any audit requirements are met and that only eligible expenditure is claimed.

Directors will:
40.3.

Ensure that the mandatory procedures for Externally Funded Projects are followed,
including completion of a Bid Assessment Form, and obtain appropriate levels of approval
as set out in SMBC External Funding Procedures prior to submitting an expression of
interest or applying for external funding.

Page 76

66

40.4.

Obtain the appropriate level of approval as set out in SMBC External Funding Procedures
prior to accepting an offer of funding where the Council is the accountable body.

40.5.

Ensure that any match-funding requirements are identified and approved prior to entering
into long-term agreements and that future budgets reflect these requirements.

40.6.

Ensure grant expenditure is incurred in accordance with the grant conditions specified by
the awarding body.

40.7.

Ensure that the project progresses in accordance with the agreed project plan and that all
expenditure is properly incurred and recorded in accordance with external funding
conditions or corporate policy and procedure, whichever is the more detailed.

40.8.

Ensure all required claims and returns are completed on time, verified by their contact in
Financial Operations and that all terms and conditions of funding are met. Claims and
returns must be signed off by the Section 151 Officer or an authorised Financial
Operations signatory.

40.9.

Ensure that the retention period of documents relating to external funding are complied
with or apply the Council’s retention policy, whichever is the longer. For further guidance
please contact your representative within Financial Operations.

41.

Work for Third Parties and Shared Services

Key Controls
 The contract/provision of service is in line with corporate outcomes.
 Proposals are costed fully and properly approved by the Director of Resources and
Deputy Chief Executive.
 Contracts are drawn up following the Rules for Contract.

Directors will:
41.1.

Ensure that the Council is not put at risk from any bad debts.

41.2.

Ensure that appropriate insurance arrangements are made.

41.3.

Ensure that no contract is subsidised by the Council.

Page 77

67

41.4.

Ensure that the approval of the appropriate level of management is obtained before any
negotiations are concluded to work for third parties.

41.5.

Ensure that the department/unit has the appropriate expertise to undertake the contract.

41.6.

Ensure that such contracts do not impact adversely upon other services provided by the
Council.

41.7.

Ensure that all contracts are properly documented.

41.8.

Provide appropriate information to the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive
to enable a note to be entered into the statement of accounts under “Related Parties”
transactions and to ensure the correct treatment of VAT on the arrangements.

41.9.

Ensure that the contract/provision of service is in line with the corporate outcome.

Page 78

68

SECTION F SUMMARY OF KEY CONTROLS
6.

Financial Management Standards

 It is the responsibility of management to promote Financial Management Standards
throughout the Council.
 Officers with a financial responsibility must read and understand Financial Regulations
and any related documents. It is each Officer’s responsibility to clarify any areas that they
do not understand with their managers and the Officers referred to in this document.
 All Executive Members, Finance Officers and Budget Managers operate within the
required accounting standards and timetables as determined by Professional
Accountancy Bodies and the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive.
7.

Virements

 Expenditure is incurred in accordance with the estimates that make up the budget.
 Management of budgets is taken with a degree of flexibility within the overall budget
framework determined by Full Council, and therefore optimises the use of resources.
Revenue Virements (01 – Financial Codes) for both temporary and permanent virements.
For budget movements within a budget book line
Amount

Authorisation Approval

Up to

Budget Managers

£50,000
Over

The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate

£50,000

authorised Directorate Leadership Team (DLT) member

For budget movements between budget book lines within the same Cabinet Portfolio:
Amount

Authorisation Approval

Up to

The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate

£50,000

authorised Directorate Leadership Team (DLT) Members

Over

The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate

£50,000 and

Director

up to
£100,000
Over

The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate

£100,000

Cabinet Portfolio Holder by way of a formal report

Page 79

69

For budget movements between Cabinet Portfolios:
Amount

Authorisation Approval

Up to

The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate

£50,000

Directors

Over

The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate

£50,000 and

Cabinet Portfolio Holders

up to
£100,000
Over

A joint report must be submitted by the relevant Directors to the

£100,000

appropriate Cabinet Portfolio Holders and also the Cabinet
Portfolio Holder - Resources

Capital Virements (02 – Financial Codes)
For budget movements between capital schemes within the same Cabinet Portfolio:
Amount

Authorisation Approval

Up to

The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate

£100,000

authorised Directorate Leadership Team (DLT) members and
notify the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive

Over

The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate

£100,000

authorised Directorate Leadership Team (DLT) member and

and up to

seek endorsement by the Director of Resources and Deputy

£250,000

Chief Executive

Over

The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate

£250,000

Cabinet Portfolio Holder and notify the Director of Resources
and Deputy Chief Executive

For budget movements between Cabinet Portfolios:
Amount

Authorisation Approval

Up to

The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate

£250,000

Directors and notify the Director of Resources and Deputy
Chief Executive

Over

The Budget Manager must obtain approval from the appropriate

£250,000

Cabinet Portfolio Holders, Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Resources
and notify the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief
Executive

Page 80

70

8.

Carry Forwards of unspent funds
 A consistent approach is adopted for carry-forwards.
 There are no automatic carry forward arrangements.
There are strong governance processes in place for agreement of any carry forwards

9.

Monitoring, Forecasting and Reporting
Monitoring and forecasting must be completed on a regular basis for it to be effective.
It must focus on key financial issues and be accurate, timely and relevant.
Variances from approved budgets are highlighted by reporting through the approved
governance structure on key financial risks or opportunities by having an effective forecast
position.
Where forecast variances exist action is taken to ensure the Council’s cash limit is not
exceeded.

10.

Accounting Records and Returns

 All the Council's transactions and other essential accounting information are recorded on an
accurate basis and retained in line with appropriate retention periods (see section 30 –
Retention Periods
 Procedures are in place to enable accounting records to be maintained, held securely and
reconstituted in the event of systems failure.
 Reconciliations of feeder and stand alone systems are carried out to ensure transactions
are correctly recorded.
 Reconciliations should be completed regularly; however, the frequency will be dependent
on the system (e.g. bank reconciliations at least monthly).
 Accounting records should be properly maintained and held securely.
11.

Revenue Budget Setting and Medium Term Planning

 The Council needs to plan effectively to ensure resources are allocated in accordance
with the Council’s priorities.
 The budget format will:


Comply with all legal requirements.



Comply with CIPFA’s Service Reporting – Code of Practice.



Reflect the accountabilities of service delivery.

 All approved budgets will be cash limited and each relevant level of management will
manage its functions within its approved cash limit.

Page 81

71

12.

Final Accounts and the Accounting Statement

 Make arrangements for the proper administration of financial affairs and ensure that one of
the Council’s Officers has the responsibility for the administration of these affairs.
 To manage its affairs to ensure the economic, efficient and effective use of resources and
safeguard its assets.
13.

Capital Programmes

 The Council is required to have a separate capital strategy, which sets out the Council’s
approach to the allocation of capital resources and how this links to strategic priorities and
objectives at a corporate and service level.
 Effective systems exist for the approval of capital projects.
 The Capital Programme is updated and maintained.
 Systems and controls for application of Prudential Borrowing and ‘Spend to Save’ are
established and applied consistently.
 Control over the disposal of assets is established and adopted.
14.

Maintenance of Reserves

 Reserves are established for specific purposes.
 A clear identification of the purpose and use of the reserve is recorded.
15.

Financial Implications of Reports

 Officers should take into account all the financial effects of the actions that they undertake or
propose.
 To ensure that financial information presented in reports reflects the current and future
implications of any actions.
 Robust presentation of financial implications will aid Members and Officers to make well
informed decisions.
16.

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

 Financial accounts should reflect all liabilities that will or may fall on the Council and disclose
potential financial assets that may benefit the Council.

Page 82

72

17.

Risk Management

 The Council recognises that there are risks involved in everything it does and that it has a
duty to manage these risks in a balanced, structured and cost effective way. In doing so, the
Council will better achieve its outcomes and enhance the value of the services it provides.
 The Council’s overall Risk Management objectives are to:


Embed “sensible” risk management into the culture and decision making of the
Council.



Integrate risk management into key business processes so that the whole range of
business risks facing the Council are managed effectively.



Manage risk in accordance with best practice, whilst developing an approach
tailored to meet the Council’s local needs.



Continually identify new and future risks that may impact on the Council.



Work with partners, providers and contractors to develop awareness and a
common understanding of the Council’s expectations on risk management.

18.

Internal Controls

 The Council, through its Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) and senior managers, is
responsible for ensuring there is an effective system of governance which incorporates
appropriate internal controls. The Council must ensure that:


Business is conducted in accordance with the laws, regulations, internal
policies and proper standards.



Significant risks are appropriately managed.



Assets are safeguarded from inappropriate use, loss and fraud.



Public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used
economically, efficiently and effectively.



Records and processes are properly maintained.



Effective arrangements are in place for timely, relevant and reliable internal
and external reporting.

 The key elements of the internal control environment include the Council’s Vision and its
outcomes for the community, the roles and responsibilities of Members and Officers, high
standards of conduct and behaviour, the decision making, scrutiny and risk management
arrangements and robust public accountability.

Page 83

73

 The Council has responsibility to conduct, at least annually, a review of its governance
arrangements (including the system of internal control) and publish the results in an
Annual Governance Statement. This is a public statement of the Council’s performance
across all of its activities with a clear statement of the actions being taken to address any
areas of concern.
19.

Internal Audit

 Good governance arrangements are key to successful organisations. The organisation is
responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management processes,
control systems and operational procedures.
 The scope for Internal Audit includes all of the Council’s operations, resources, services and
responsibilities in relation to other bodies, and partner organisations.
 Internal Audit will produce a plan of work using a risk based approach that highlights the
main areas where audit input would be effective.
20.

External Audit

 External Auditors are appointed by the Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. The
National Audit Office prepares a code of audit practice, which External Auditors follow
when carrying out their audits.
21.

Separation of Duties

 Adequate level of segregation of duties in all financial activities.
22.

Preventing Fraud and Corruption

 All fraud and corruption risks are identified and managed.
 Effective systems exist to minimise the risk of fraud and corruption.
23.

Insurance

 Insurance arrangements exist to adequately cover the Council from financial losses or
liabilities.
 Consideration will be given to the financing of losses that may arise from the risks that
remain following the risk management process.

Page 84

74

 Such cover will be arranged at levels that are considered most economically advantageous
from the insurance market and the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive,
where appropriate, will make arrangements to self insure certain risks and make appropriate
provision within the accounts to establish reserves and provisions to meet the expected cost
of these claims.
 Insurance arrangements, whether insured or self-insured, will follow the terms and
conditions of the overarching insurance policy(s) that the Council has in place at the time
cover is to be provided.

24.

Security of Assets

 Resources are available for use when required.
 The Council has identified business continuity plans for implementation in the event of
disaster that results in significant loss or damage to its resources.
 Assets are:

•
•
•
25.

Safeguarded.
Used efficiently and effectively.
Adequately maintained and recorded.

Intellectual Property

 In the event that the Council decides to become involved in the commercial exploitation
of inventions or intellectual property, the matter should proceed in accordance with the
directions of the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive and the relevant
Director involved, and in agreement as to the procedures that should be followed.
26.

Treasury Management including Banking, Investment, Borrowing and Bank
Accounts

 Borrowings and investments of the Council comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on
Treasury Management, the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local
Authorities and the Council’s Approved Treasury Management Strategy Statement and
Treasury Management Practices.
27.

Petty Cash, Till Floats and Cash Advances

 Only minor expenditure is incurred.
 Floats are maintained at the level that has been authorised.
 Regular reconciliation of cash held is undertaken.
 All cash must be locked away to safeguard against loss or theft.

Page 85

75

 Proper control is exercised over cash advances
28.

Cash Handling

 To safeguard cash assets and protect them from misappropriation
29.

Computer Systems

 Basic data exists to enable the Authority’s outcomes, targets, budgets and plans to be
formulated.
 Performance is communicated to the appropriate managers on an accurate, complete and
timely basis.
 Early warning is provided of deviations from target, plans and budgets that require
management attention.
 Operating systems, procedures, computer equipment and software are secure. See ICT
Security – a guide for employees.
 Effective contingency arrangements must be in place, including back-up procedures, for
computer systems. For more information see the ICT Strategy.
30.

Retention Policy

 Prime documents are retained in accordance with legislative and other requirements.

31.

Income Collection

 All income due to the Council is identified.
 All income due to the Council is collected and monitored.
 All income is banked in a timely manner.
 Income is not offset against the same subjective code as expenditure.
 Compliance with the corporate fees and charges framework.
32.

Orders for Work, Goods and Services

 All goods and services are requisitioned and ordered by authorised Officers and only to
facilitate the operations of the Council.
 All orders are raised (in advance) only with an approved supplier or contractor.
 Refer to Rules for Contract for further details.
33.

Purchase Cards

 All goods and services are only procured for the operations of the Council.

Page 86

76

 Purchase cards are used only by authorised Officers.
 Should not be used where corporate contracts already exist
 Transactions are correctly coded.

34.

Expense Claims

 All expenses claimed through Oracle iExpenses must be approved electronically by the
relevant Budget Manager.
 All expense claimed using a paper claim form must be approved by the relevant Budget
Manager.
 All expense claims must be accompanied with a valid VAT receipt to allow the claim to be
processed
35.

Staffing

 A staffing strategy and policy exists, in which staffing requirements and budget allocations
are matched annually.
 HM Revenue & Customs regulations are complied with.
36.

Taxation

 Budget Managers are provided with relevant information and kept up to date on tax issues.
 Officers must reclaim VAT where possible.
 Budget Managers are issued with guidance on record keeping.
 All taxable transactions are identified, properly carried out and accounted for within
stipulated timescales. Advice can be obtained on tax issues from Financial Operations.
Guidance is also available on the Intranet – VAT Manual.
37.

Construction Industry Scheme

 The Construction Industry Scheme (CIS) criteria are upheld.
 The CIS Officer will maintain a list of contractors listed under CIS.
38.

Internal Recharges

 Internal Recharges must reflect the internal resources utilised in delivering the service.

39.

Partnerships

Page 87

77

 To ensure that effective governance arrangements are in place.
 To ensure that risk management processes are in place to identify and assess all known
risks in line with the Risk Management Policy and Procedure.
40.

External Funding

 Ensure that funds are acquired only to meet the Council’s priorities.
 Ensure that grant conditions are met to avoid the risk of claw back.
41.

Work for Third Parties and Shared Services

 The contract/provision of service is in line with corporate outcomes.
 Proposals are costed fully and properly approved by the Director of Resources and
Deputy Chief Executive.
 Contracts are drawn up following the Rules for Contract.

Page 88

78

CASH HANDLING PROCEDURES
Introduction
1.

Although the Director of Resources & Deputy Chief Executive is responsible for the proper administration
of the Authority's financial affairs, all staff have a responsibility to safeguard assets and protect them
from misappropriation.

2.

For the benefit of staff as well as the authority, the risk of loss should be considered on your service risk
register Risk assessments should also be undertaken for staff involved in cash handling. The Health and
Safety Support Team can provide further advice and guidance on this.

3.

To help prevent the loss or misappropriation of cash, it is important that staff have a clear understanding
of their own responsibilities, and the need for a definite division of duties so that the risk of loss is
minimised.

4.

These "Cash Handling Procedures” should be read by all staff involved in handling income, as they form
part of the Authority's Financial Regulations and they must be adhered to. In the event of a loss or
misappropriation of money, staff involved may be subject to disciplinary proceedings, prosecution and be
required to repay any losses.

5.

These guidelines focus on income but the principles can be applied to other areas where cash or other
asset handling is involved. The principles can also be applied to voluntary funds administered by staff,
for example school funds.

6.

Separate guidance on use of Petty Cash floats can be found using the following link: 'Petty Cash & Cash
Advance Procedures'

7.

In the context of these guidelines, the term ‘money’ includes cash and cheques.

8.

Further information or advice
corporatecontrol@solihull.gov.uk

can

be

obtained

from

Financial

Operations

by

emailing:

Please click on a link below to go to that section:
Receiving Income
- In person
- By post
- Manual Receipts
- Cash Registers
- Kiosks / Vending Machines
Transfer of Income Between Officers
- Security of Income Before Banking
- Designated Safe Key Holders
- Handover of Safe Keys
- Combination Safes
Private and Official Funds
Banking of Income
- Frequency of Banking
- Preparation of Money for Banking
- Cash Collection Service (SecurityPlus)
Income Monitoring
Controlled Stationery
Irregularities
Guidance / Information
K:\Financial Maintenance\Financial Regulations\2020-21\Documents To Update\Cash Handling Procedures.DocK:\Financial Maintenance\Financial
Regulations\2019-20\Documents For Update\Cash Handling Procedures.Doc

Page 89

Page 1

Receiving Income
9.

The person(s) responsible for income from receipt through to banking must be clearly designated. The
designated person will be accountable for the income whilst they are responsible for it.

10.

Officers with responsibility for income should ensure that it is held securely on Council premises prior to
being banked. Any transfers of money between officers must be recorded, either in a safe register, cash
in transit book, or other similar record.

11.

When collecting cash, either bank the cash at the cash office or lock the cash in a secure
location in the office. Do not take Authority money home unless the cash is collected on a day
where the Council offices are not open. If this is the case, ensure that two officers count the cash
and record the amount recovered, signing that who has taken the cash home with them. Upon
bringing the cash back into the office, a separate officer should independently count the cash
and verify the amount received prior to banking in the usual way.

12.

Never borrow / lend council money.

13.

Do not cash personal cheques out of Authority money, including income.

14.

All cheques should be made payable to Solihull MBC. The reverse of the cheque must be endorsed with
the name of the establishment together with an appropriate reference.

15.

The main reasons for cheque rejections are usually as a result of avoidable errors. For example; no
signature on the cheque, dates missing or the value being written differently to the numeric value. When
you are handed a cheque, please ensure this information is included.

16.

If money is found on any Council premises it must be paid in immediately, with as much detail recorded
as possible to trace it at a future date.

Income Received in Person
17.

Before accepting payment, checks should be undertaken to verify that the amount being paid is correct.
Cash payments should always be counted and agreed with the payee on handover and should then be
held securely whilst the transaction is receipted using an official receipt, ticket or voucher.

18.

All receipt books, tickets and other forms or documents used to officially acknowledge or record amounts
received must be in a format approved by the Director of Resources & Deputy Chief Executive.

Manual Receipts
19.

Receipts must be issued in numerical order with a copy receipt retained as the Authority's official record
of monies received.

20.

Receipts must not be altered. If an incorrect entry is made, the receipt must be endorsed with the word
"CANCELLED" and retained in the receipt book with all copies. A new receipt can then be issued.

21.

All unused receipts/tickets must be stored in a secure place.

22.

A control record should be maintained of stocks of receipts held, recording issues and returns of
completed receipts books where applicable.

23.

Completed receipt books should be held for a period of 7 years.

Income Received In the Post
24.

Where income is regularly received in the post, two people should always be present when post is
opened.

25.

Income received should be recorded in a postal log. Both officers must sign the postal remittance record.

K:\Financial Maintenance\Financial Regulations\2020-21\Documents To Update\Cash Handling Procedures.DocK:\Financial Maintenance\Financial
Regulations\2019-20\Documents For Update\Cash Handling Procedures.Doc

Page 90

Page 2

26.

Upon conclusion of the post opening, the remittance register should be underlined under the last entry
and the income passed to a Connect Centre or the designated safe key holder for safe keeping until it
can be banked at the earliest opportunity.

27.

The safe key holder should sign the safe register as a record of the transfer of the income. (note – see
Section below on ‘Safe keeping of income prior to banking’ for more details on safe registers)

28.

Correspondence received with the postal remittance should then be forwarded to the addressee. The
following details should be written on the correspondence: date payment received; amount and the
remittance record reference number. This information is required in the event of any subsequent query in
relation to a payment or in the event of say a refund being required.

Cash Registers
29.

At the start of the day, the till float should be collected from the safe, signed for in the safe register and
checked before being placed in the till.

30.

All transactions must be entered on the cash register and the income immediately placed in the till at the
time of the transaction.

31.

Tills should not normally be left unattended during ‘opening hours’ of the facility however, if this does
happen, the operator should ensure that the cash drawer to the till is locked and the keys removed.

32.

Till drawers should be kept closed between transactions and should not be opened to give change.

33.

At the end of trading, the cashier should undertake a ‘blind’ cash up of the till, separating the float from
the income received without checking the system’s record of income held (‘Z’ reading or End of Day
print). The cash up should be undertaken in a ‘secure’ place, away from public view.

34.

For electronic tills, the Line Manager should check the ‘End of Day’ print out and compare this with the
income declared by the cashier.

35.

For manual tills, the Line Manager should retain the ‘managers’ or ‘Z’ key in their possession during
trading hours. Once the cashier has completed the cash up, the Line Manager should take a ‘Z’ reading
from the cash register which should be compared to the income declared by the cashier.

36.

A record should be maintained of unders / overs. The Line Manager should monitor unders / overs for
trends / training issues. Where significant variances are noted, the Line Manager should notify Internal
Audit on 0121 704 6067.

37.

Income should be placed in a sealed bag and lodged in a safe until banked. The handover evidenced by
being recorded in the safe register.

38.

Till Floats collected and returned to the safe should be placed in a separate sealed bag or cash box and
lodged in a safe, with the deposit recorded in the safe register. The floats should be checked and
evidenced by two people.

39.

No money should be left in the tills or cash drawers when the facility is closed.

40.

Where the amount of daily cash income going through a till exceeds £1,000, then a risk assessment of
‘security arrangements’ for the till should be undertaken. If necessary, an interim cash up should be
undertaken, with income being removed and lodged in a safe until the daily cash up is undertaken.

41.

Where till rolls are used, ‘Audit’ copies of the till roll should be kept for a period of 7 years.

Kiosks / Vending Machine
42.

Cash boxes within machines must be kept locked. Machines should be emptied and the cash counted by
two people. The key to the cash box should be kept in a sealed bag in a safe, signed in and out by the
two people emptying the cash box.

K:\Financial Maintenance\Financial Regulations\2020-21\Documents To Update\Cash Handling Procedures.DocK:\Financial Maintenance\Financial
Regulations\2019-20\Documents For Update\Cash Handling Procedures.Doc

Page 91

Page 3

43.

Where machines have a management information facility, such details should be extracted and
compared to the value of actual cash collected.

44.

A control record should be maintained for each machine documenting: date emptied, income collected,
the signatures of the collecting officers and the date banked.

45.

In the event of a significant or regular variance between the management information facility and the
income collected, the Line Manager should notify Internal Audit on 0121 704 6067.

Transfer of Income Between Officers
46.

When cash has to be transferred from one person to another, it should be counted and agreed by both
officers and recorded. Only in this way can the possibility of a dispute regarding responsibility for a
deficit be avoided. The occasions of cash transfer should be limited wherever possible.

47.

Where income is transferred from one location to another, the money should be in a sealed bag and
transfer recorded using a ‘Cash in Transit’ book. Where money is being transferred, a risk assessment
should be undertaken of the most appropriate / secure means of transferring the money.

48.

Two people should always be present to open and agree the contents of a sealed bag containing
money.

Security of Income Before Banking
49.

All income received must be held securely from the point of receipt until being banked. Cash (excluding
cheques) up to £1,000 can be held in a locked cash box in a locked receptacle i.e. till, desk or cupboard
during working hours. Amounts over this and all money outside of working / opening hours must be
lodged in a safe. Guidance on limits can be obtained from the Insurance Section (0121 704 8414).
Note: In the event of a loss, an excess of £675 applies to the Council’s internal insurance arrangements.

50.

Where several sources of income / funds are held by the same officer, the funds should always be kept
separate in different sealed bags / cash boxes and be easily identifiable.

51.

As good practice it is recommended that wherever possible, monies should be lodged in a safe. Monies
should never be left unattended or left for someone else to collect.

Designated Safe Key Holders
52.

Wherever possible, access to safes / cash boxes should be restricted to a single designated key holder
at any one time. The safe key(s) should be retained in the personal possession of the designated key
holder during working hours and should be removed from premises at night or when offices are left
unattended.

53.

If it is not practical to restrict safe access to one person, Line Managers must be aware of and regularly
review the risks involved.

54.

The safe key holder(s) are responsible for all items lodged in the safe and so should not pass their safe
keys to anyone else to use.

55.

Safes should be kept locked at all times.

56.

An official safe register must be maintained for all safes. The purpose of the safe register is to provide a
record of the contents to support an insurance claim in the event of a loss occurring from a safe and to
evidence handovers of money into and out of the safe.
Note: The safe register should be kept near to, but not actually held in the safe.

57.

The spare safe key should be held securely off-site. Access to the spare safe key should be restricted to
authorised officers only.

K:\Financial Maintenance\Financial Regulations\2020-21\Documents To Update\Cash Handling Procedures.DocK:\Financial Maintenance\Financial
Regulations\2019-20\Documents For Update\Cash Handling Procedures.Doc

Page 92

Page 4

Handover of Safe Keys
58.

Planned Leave – On handover of safe keys, the safe contents should be checked and agreed to the safe
register. On completion of this reconciliation, the handover of the safe key should be formally recorded in
the back of the safe register. If the safe keys have to be handed over to another member of staff, the
contents of the safe must be verified and agreed by two people in the safe register.

59.

Unplanned Leave - On obtaining the spare safe key, the safe should be opened by two persons and the
contents checked to the safe register. On completion of this reconciliation, details should be recorded in
the back of the safe register, signed by the two people who carried out the reconciliation, along with the
signature of the new ‘designated key holder’.

60.

Where monies are held in a sealed bag or locked cash box, this money does not have to be counted as
part of the handover process.

Combination Safes
61.

Ideally, combination safes should not be used. Where they are already in use, officers with access to
them should not share their code with officers to allow them to access the safe.

62.

Combination codes should be changed regularly and whenever members of staff who know the
combination leave the authority or that specific role.

Private and Official Funds
63.

Private funds are non-Authority monies, e.g. school funds, welfare funds, staff collections, tea funds.
Official funds are all monies relating to Council Services.

64.

Private and official funds can be held in the same safe; however, they must be kept strictly separate.

65.

Officers taking responsibility for private funds should maintain suitable accounting records. School funds
must be inspected by an independent auditor at least annually. All other private funds such as welfare
funds should be reviewed at least annually by an independent officer.

66.

For all funds private and official the principles outlined in this document must be adhered to.

Banking of Income
Frequency of Banking
67.

All monies received must be deposited at a Connect Centre or banked via the Authority’s cash collection
service (SecurityPlus. All monies must be deposited daily, except where the weekly receipts do not
exceed £500, in these instances bankings should be made each week.

68.

All income received must be banked at the earliest opportunity. Income should not be held back until a
future banking date or used as a float.

Preparation of Monies for Bankings
69.

Money should be counted and prepared for banking in a safe environment, which should not be in view
of customers / the public etc.

70.

Checks should be undertaken to source records to agree income being prepared for banking to income
received / due. Variances must be reported to local management and investigated. Significant variances
must be reported to Internal Audit for investigation. Small regular variances should be monitored by local
management and reported to Internal Audit where necessary.

K:\Financial Maintenance\Financial Regulations\2020-21\Documents To Update\Cash Handling Procedures.DocK:\Financial Maintenance\Financial
Regulations\2019-20\Documents For Update\Cash Handling Procedures.Doc

Page 93

Page 5

71.

Any surpluses must be banked.

72.

All cheques must be individually listed on the reverse of the paying in slip or other appropriate document,
together with the postal remittance register reference number or receipt number where appropriate.

Cash Collection Service (SecurityPlus)
73.

When preparing income for collection by SecurityPlus, establishments must bank cash separately from
cheques and put cash in a cash bag and cheques in a cheque bag.

74.

These bags should then be placed in one of the large ‘grey’ plastic bags supplied by SecurityPlus. The
unique identity number / ‘seal number’ on the large grey bag must be recorded on the bank paying in
slips before any of the bags are sealed.

75.

Bankings made up for collection by SecurityPlus must be "bulk checked" by a second officer. This
involves a complete count of the notes and a check of the number of bags of coins. The second officer
must initial the paying in slip, and witness the money being placed in the bag and sealed.

76.

The identity of SecurityPlus staff must be verified before any money is handed over.

77.

A signed acknowledgement must be obtained when money is handed over to the appointed SecurityPlus
representative, who will issue a printed receipt for the bag(s) collected.

78.

A check should be undertaken to verify that the bag ‘seal numbers’ recorded on the receipt, match those
on the bags themselves.

79.

Sealed bags should remain in the safe until handed over, in person, to SecurityPlus. Under no
circumstance should bags be left unattended for collection.

Income Monitoring
80.

Line Managers should periodically undertake the following control checks:







81.

Reconcile records of income received to income banked and posted on the ledger.
Verify that income is being handled in accordance with Financial Regulations and these
instructions, by for example undertaking spot checks, ‘surprise’ cash ups.
Verify that accounting records are being completed promptly and kept up to date.
Reconcile receipts held to control records of receipt books.
Compare records of income due to income banked, to identify non payment.
Ensure that non-payment / arrears are followed up in line with corporate policy for the service area.

Line Managers should periodically review income streams to verify the existing arrangements for
receiving / collecting the income are still appropriate.

Controlled Stationery
82.

Control records should be maintained for items that have a ‘cash value’, e.g. vouchers, bus passes, ‘blue
badges’ etc. The control record should contain details of receipts, stock held and issues.

83.

Stocks of such controlled stationery should be held securely in a locked desk, cupboard or safe, as
appropriate. Access to these stocks should be restricted.

84.

Periodic reconciliations of actual stocks to recorded stocks should be undertaken. Any discrepancies
should be reported to the Line Manager and investigated. Variances should be monitored by local
management and reported to Internal Audit where necessary. Internal Audit can be contacted on 0121
704 6067, or email antifraud@solihull.gov.uk

Irregularities
K:\Financial Maintenance\Financial Regulations\2020-21\Documents To Update\Cash Handling Procedures.DocK:\Financial Maintenance\Financial
Regulations\2019-20\Documents For Update\Cash Handling Procedures.Doc

Page 94

Page 6

85.

Internal Audit must be informed immediately of any loss or financial irregularity, whether it arises in
official or unofficial funds or is a personal loss. Internal Audit can be contacted on 0121 704 6067, or
email: antifraud@solihull.gov.uk

Guidance / Information
86.

If you have any questions about cash handling, or would like guidance on how you deal with cash,
please email: corporatecontrol@solihull.gov.uk

K:\Financial Maintenance\Financial Regulations\2020-21\Documents To Update\Cash Handling Procedures.DocK:\Financial Maintenance\Financial
Regulations\2019-20\Documents For Update\Cash Handling Procedures.Doc

Page 95

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

These procedures form part of the Council’s Financial Regulations

Page 97

Contents
Section 1 - External Funding Flowchart - guidance as to which procedures should be followed
Section 2 - Roles and Responsibilities – Submission Stage
Section 3 - Roles and Responsibilities – Approval Stage
Section 4 - Roles and Responsibilities – Implementation Stage
Section 5 - Roles and Responsibilities – Completion Stage
Section 6 – Suggested monitoring for DLT’s
Appendix A - Bid Assessment Form for External Funding
Appendix B - Grants Project Consent Checklist: Applications
Appendix C - Grants Project Consent Checklist: Allocations

Page 1 of 15

Section 1

Procedures for Externally Funded Projects

Page 98
Page 2 of 15

Section 2
Roles and Responsibilities – Submission Stage

REQUIREMENTS






BAF
COMPLTED
APPLICATION FORM
& ACCOMPANYING
BUDGETS /
SUPPORTING
EVIDENCE
APPROVAL REPORT
– DLT / CLT /
CABINET

SPONSOR DIRECTORATE

 Obtain DLT / CLT / Cabinet
approval (dependent on value
and Council virement rules)
 Nominate Project Manager
 Develop project budget
 Set up a meeting with
Directorate Finance Officer to
agree project costs
 Complete Application Form,
BAF and collate supporting
evidence (as required by
funder)
 Obtain BAF sign-off by DLT
(This may be completed in
stages).

FINANCIAL OPERATIONS
(Directorate Finance Manager and
their teams)



Directorate Finance Team Officer to
review costs and budgets.
Directorate Finance Manager to
approve final cost for submission with
application and sign off BAF.

Page 3 of 15

Page 99

Section 3
Roles and Responsibilities – Approval Stage

REQUIREMENTS





APPROVAL
LETTER
PROJECT
CONSENT
CHECKLIST
FINANCE
MEETING WITH
PROJECT
MANAGER

SPONSOR DIRECTORATE
(nominated Project Manager)











Forward outcome of bid and
any correspondence including
offer letter to Directorate
Finance Officer.
Review offer for accuracy
Review original project to take
account of any changes that
may have occurred e.g.
timescales or budget
Review and address any precontract conditions
Review contract and identify
contract conditions
Address any outstanding
issues from submission stage
Carry out project risk
assessment

FINANCIAL OPERATIONS
(Directorate Finance Manager and
their teams)








Directorate Finance Team review and
check offer letter
Directorate Finance Officer to
complete Project Consent Checklist
and ensure any outstanding issues
have been resolved
Carry out finance project risk
assessment.
Authorised Finance Manager to sign
off Project Consent Checklist.
Directorate Finance Officer to set up
finance codes in general ledger and
budgets.
Directorate Finance Team update
Grants Register with on-going
information

Page 4 of 15

Page 100

Section 4
Roles and Responsibilities – Implementation Stage

REQUIREMENTS







CLAIM
COMPLETION
BUDGET
MANAGEMENT
DELIVER OUTPUTS
MEET MILESTONES
MANAGE RISK

SPONSOR DIRECTORATE
(nominated Project Manager)













Operational management of
project, including staff
management, contract
management and budget
management
Ensure timely claim completion
Review and verify completed
claim and sign-off Claim
Checklist
Send completed claims and
Claims Checklist to relevant
finance team for checking
Submit signed-off claims to
funder
Monitor spend through
ORACLE
Ensure project budgets are
accurately profiled
Complete all monitoring reports
Create an auditable monitoring
trail of all outputs and financial
information
Project Manager attendance at
all audits

FINANCIAL OPERATIONS
(Directorate Finance Manager
and their teams)









Directorate Finance Officer to
support project manager in
monitoring spend.
Directorate Finance Officer to
check, verify and reconcile claims
prior to submission.
Directorate Finance Officer
complete finance section of claim
checklist and obtain sign off from
Authorised Finance Signatory.
Directorate Finance Manager to
update DLTs on financial position of
the project as part of the regular
financial monitoring reports to DLT
Directorate Finance Team to update
their Grants Register with on-going
information if appropriate.
Directorate Finance Team provide
support for Internal / External Audits
of the grant when required

Page 5 of 15

Page 101

Section 5
Roles and Responsibilities – Completion Stage

REQUIREMENTS




LESSONS
LEARNED
REPORT
PROJECT
EVALUATION /
PROJECT
CLOSURE
REPORT

SPONSOR DIRECTORATE
(nominated Project Manager)





Project Manager to report back to
DLT
Project Manager to report back to
funder as per contract conditions
Project Manager to ensure
required audit trail is complete, in
place and appropriately archived
in line with funder requirements

FINANCIAL OPERATIONS
(Directorate Finance Manager
and their teams)



Directorate Finance Team to update
their Grants Register as appropriate
Directorate Finance Team to
provide support at Project Closure
Audits if required.

Page 6 of 15

Page 102

Section 6
Suggested Financial Monitoring for DLTs
DLT’s receive monthly A3 summaries now with financial information on them so these will need to
include a Grants financial summary if deemed appropriate outside the main financial forecasting
section – Directorate Finance Manager to agree approach with the relevant DLT in terms of what
detail they want to receive, depending on the value of the project.

Page 7 of 15

Page 103

Appendix A
BID ASSESSMENT FORM FOR EXTERNAL FUNDING
The purpose of this document is to capture a brief description of your proposed project and obtain DLT
approval.
This form must be completed by the officer responsible for submitting the bid for all applications for
external funding over £10k to secure official authorisation for the project to take place.
Please contact your Service Finance Team for help and advice on budgets and costings at the earliest
opportunity. Budgets need to be approved prior to submission.

Name of Project
Project Officer
Project Officer Contact Phone Number
Project Officer e-mail address
Directorate
Approving DLT Member
Funding Body
Funding stream
Funding Body Deadline for submission
Capital and/or Revenue
Total Project Cost £
Grant Funding £
Match Funding £
SMBC £ (Cost centre must be identified)
Other £ (Please state)
Project Start Date
Project End Date
All the following documents must to be attached to the Bid Assessment Form. Bids cannot be checked if
any items are missing. If any items are not applicable to your project please state why.
Documents Required
Attached
(Yes/No/N/A)
1 Funding Body Application Form *
2 Funding Body Guidelines *
3 DLT Member Approval *
4 Cabinet Report for projects over £100,000 Revenue
Cabinet Report for projects over £250,000 Capital (If there are any
revenue implications or match funding Cabinet approval is required
for any amount)
5 Full project budget checked and approved by Accountancy *
6 Future revenue cost implications approved by Accountancy *
7 Match Funding Offer Letters
8 Budget Holder approval for SMBC Match Funding
* Mandatory attachments

Page 8 of 15

Page 104

Accountancy Approval
Accountancy – Outline the financial risks and mitigating actions

Examples of risks to consider: budgetary issues, match/in-kind funding risks, VAT, exit
strategy, on-going revenue costs, asset retention period, defrayal, audit fees, cross directorate
impact.
Signed
Date

Service Finance Manager
Name

Position

Signed (If applicable)

Date

Capital Senior Accountant
Name

Position

Page 9 of 15

Page 105

Appendix B

Grants Project Consent Checklist: Applications
To be completed by the officer responsible for the bid in conjunction with Finance.
Project Name:
Project Manager:

Value of Grant:

Funding Body:

Funding Period:

Date Received:

Date Returned:

Deadline:
No.

Question

Yes/No

Comments/Actions

Documentation Required
1. Are the following documents attached
and signed off by the appropriate
officers:
 Bid Assessment Form
 Application Form
2. Has an issues log been completed
with all issues resolved?
3. Has Cabinet Approval been obtained
(Over £100k revenue, £250k capital)?
4. Has all required match funding been
identified and can this be verified
through paperwork, such as
confirmation from the budget manager
or from a third party?
Offer Letter Checks
1. Are there any differences between the
original application and the offer letter
in relation to the funding available?

<<If there are changes you should contact the
budget manager and Senior Accountant to
confirm the changes In the funding available
and re-align the budget accordingly>>

2. Are the costs in the application still
accurate and realistic?

<<Action as above>>

3. Are there any changes to the
timescales since the original
application?

<<If there are changes you should contact the
budget manager and Senior Accountant to
confirm the outcomes are still achievable in the
timescale. If not, the budget manager must
liaise with the Funding Body>>

4. Are there any changes to the
expected outputs since the original
application?

<<Action as above>>

Page 10 of 15

Page 106

5. Does the grant require internal or
external audit certification?

<<If the grant requires audit certification a
budget must be identified to cover the cost of
the audit. For internal audit certification you
should inform Corporate Finance
immediately>>

6. Has any spend been incurred prior to
the date of the offer letter?

<<If spend has been incurred you must identify
if it is eligible against the grant. If the spend is
not eligible a budget must be identified to cover
the costs>>

Approvals
Have the following approvals been
confirmed following the receipt and
review of the offer letter and grant
conditions:

<<The project manager and/or Finance
Manager may need to report back to DLT
and/or Cabinet where there have been
significant changes to the original application>>

Project Manager
Finance Manager
Offer Letter and Grant Conditions
Please enter all relevant financial grant conditions that need to be considered prior to the grant offer
being accepted by the Authority, such as ring fencing of funding, claim requirements, auditor
certification, and carry forward restrictions in line with section 151 responsibilities and Audit
Commission best practice.
No. Condition
E.G The date(s) for the claim(s) to be
submitted to the funding body

Yes/No

Comments/Actions

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Project Authorisation
Checked By:

Date:

<<Finance Officer>>
Authorised By:

Date:

<<Section 151 Officer or
designated signatory>>

Page 11 of 15

Page 107

Finance Team Actions
No.

Action

Yes/No

Comments

1. Send a signed copy of the offer letter
and project consent checklist to the
following officers:
 Project Manager
 External Funding Team
Officer
2. Arrange project manager set up
meeting within 30 days of the grant
being accepted.
3. Arrange for a new cost centre to be
requested if required – complete the
online request form. For capital also
ask the manager to complete a
Capital Update Form.
4. Ensure details of the grant are added
to:
 Grants Register for your team
 Monthly Monitoring
 Central schedule of return
dates
 Corporate Finance informed
of any audit requirements

Page 12 of 15

Page 108

Appendix C

Grants Project Consent Checklist: Allocations
To be completed by the officer responsible for the bid in conjunction with Finance.for any allocations
received over £10,000 and/or with conditions.
Project Name:
Project Manager:

Value of Grant:

Funding Body:

Funding Period:

Date Received:

Date Returned:

Deadline:
No.
1.
2.
3.

4.

5.
6.

Question
Has a Budget Holder been identified?
Has Cabinet Approval been obtained
(Over £100k revenue, £250k capital)?
Has all required match funding been
identified and can this be verified
through paperwork, such as
confirmation from the budget manager
or from a third party?
Has a planned programme of spend
been developed and is this achievable
within the timescales?
<<Budgets to be uploaded on this
basis>>
Does the grant require internal or
external audit certification?
Has any spend been incurred prior to
the date of the offer letter?

Yes/No

Comments/Actions

Offer Letter and Grant Conditions
Please enter all relevant financial grant conditions that need to be considered prior to the grant offer being
accepted by the Authority, such as ring fencing of funding, claim requirements, auditor certification, and
carry forward restrictions in line with section 151 responsibilities and Audit Commission best practice.
No. Condition
Yes/No
Comments/Actions
E.G The date(s) for the claim(s) to be
submitted to the funding body
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Page 13 of 15

Page 109

Project Authorisation
Checked By:

Date:

<<Finance Service Team
Representative>>
Authorised By:

Date:

<<Section 151 Officer or designated
signatory>>

Finance Team Actions
No.

Action

Yes/No

Comments

1. Send a signed copy of the offer letter
and project consent checklist to the
following officers:
 Project Manager
 External Funding Team
Officer
2. Arrange project manager set up
meeting within 30 days of the grant
being accepted.
3. Arrange for a new cost centre to be
requested if required – complete the
online request form. For capital also
ask the manager to complete a
Capital Update Form.
4. Ensure details of the grant are added
to:
 Grants Register for your team
 Monthly Monitoring
 Central schedule of return
dates
 Corporate Finance informed
of any audit requirements

Page 14 of 15

Page 110

Procedures for Externally Funded Projects
No

Follow ESIF
Procedures

Yes

Is it an
ESIF
Project?

Is it a UKC
Project?
(decided by UKC
Programme
Delivery

Yes
Obtain UKC
Growth &
Development
Project Board
sign-off

No
Obtain H of S
approval

Yes

Page 111

Is it
under
£50k?

Obtain UKC
prescribed
approvals

No

Obtain Director
approval

Yes

Is it under
£100k revenue
or £250k

Is it an
ESIF
Project?

Yes

Follow ESIF
Procedures

No
Obtain Cabinet
approval

No

Follow External Funding Procedures:
For an application/bid to be submitted refer to sections 2 - 6, complete appendices A & B
For an allocation received without having to apply, refer to sections 3 - 6, complete appendix C

Page 15 of 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
Meeting date:

Wednesday 24 March 2021

Report to:

Governance Committee

Subject/report
title:

Review of New Member Induction Programme

Report from:

Head of Legal & Democratic Services and Monitoring Officer

Report
author/lead
contact officer:

Jane Game 0121 704 6051
jagame@solihull.gov.uk

Wards affected:
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege
Public/private
report:

Public

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To seek approval of the New Member Induction Programme for 2021.

2.

Decision(s) recommended

2.1

That the Committee reviews and approves a programme of induction training for
newly elected Councillors in 2021 (Appendix A)

3.

Matters for Consideration

3.1

In 2016 the Committee’s views and approval were sought on an Induction Programme
for newly elected Members. Given a number of years have now elapsed the
Committee’s view on the existing programme are being sought.

3.2

One of the key principles of the Local Code of Corporate Governance is that
Councillors should have a clear understanding of their role and the competencies they
are expected to display in order to perform their various roles.

3.3

For newly elected Councillors this begins with a programme of induction designed to
provide them with the support required to carry out their elected role. The induction
programme aims to:


Ensure Councillors complete the relevant administrative processes and have
the IT equipment to allow them to undertake their elected role;

Page 113



Provide Councillors with a comprehensive introduction to key services and an
overarching view of the Council’s work;



Provide an opportunity for Councillors to meet key staff from across the
Council; and



Set the foundations for further training and development, as appropriate, for
Councillors.

3.4

The programme includes a range of briefings and workshops covering key service
areas including governance, safeguarding, overview and scrutiny, housing, planning,
and equalities and diversity.

3.5

Due to the risk of information overload in the induction process the programme is
phased over a period of months. Priority training is given in the first month after the
elections, with further sessions offered over the next 4 to 6 months.

3.6

All newly elected councillors are provided with an information pack including a
Members’ guide and other key information.

3.7

Given the current situation with Covid-19 and how Council is currently operating
remote meetings, how the training is delivered has yet to de determined, but it is
envisaged it could be a mix of both physical and virtual. It is important that Councillors
are introduced to the diverse range of services that the Council delivers. The meetings
whether physical or virtual allow the opportunity to meet and ask questions of senior
staff from a wide range of services and to start to build working relationships with
Officers.

3.8

A draft Induction Programme for 2021 is attached as Appendix A to this report. Those
Officers who will be delivering the training have been asked to consider how this could
be done virtually if required. The Committee is invited to comment on the content and
timing of delivery.

4.

What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about
them?

4.1

No other options have been considered.

5.

Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1

The focus for delivering the programme is to ensure Councillors understand how the
Council works, how Councillors are supported in their role and how they are able to
carry out their role as community leaders as effectively as possible.

6.

Implications and Considerations

6.1

State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan:

Priority:

Contribution:

Page 114

Economy:

Click here to enter text.

1. Revitalising our towns and local
centres.
2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the
opportunities of HS2.
3. Increase the supply of housing,
especially affordable and social
housing.
Environment:

Click here to enter text.

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment.
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality.
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions.
People and Communities:
7. Take action to improve life chances in
our most disadvantaged communities.
8. Enable communities to thrive.
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable
provision for adults & children with
complex needs.
6.2

Implement a framework for the development
of community leadership/advocacy roles
and skills of councillors

Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.2.1 To try inform Members the views of the most recent newly elected Councillors from
2019 were sought as to how effective they found the Programme. A number
responded and were positive about the programme. In summary the following views
were expressed:

6.3



The induction programme was excellent and exceeded expectations;



The induction pack contained the right amount of information, any more would
have been too much. The who’s, who section was very useful;



All the induction sessions were useful and appropriate. They needed to be
spread out but could they have been completed by August;



Another comment was the first couple of weeks of the Programme were a bit
heavy commitment wise; and



The issue of refresh training was raised particularly around understanding the
budget process, the timing of which would be around budget setting time.

Financial implications:

6.3.1 As the training is done in house the cost is minimal. If external facilitators are used the
cost can be met from the Members Training and Development budget.

Page 115

6.4

Legal implications:

6.4.1 None as a direct result of this report.
6.5

Risk implications:

6.5.1 None as direct result of this report.
6.6

Equality implications:

6.6.1 None as a direct result of this report.
7.

List of appendices referred to

7.1

Appendix A - Proposed Newly Elected Members Induction Programme 2021

8.

Background papers used to compile this report

8.1

None

9.

List of other relevant documents

9.1

None

Page 116

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Induction Programme for New Councillors

Date
12 May 2021
5pm to
7.00pm

Topic & Host

Purpose

Formal Welcome from the Corporate
Leadership Team
Chief Executive Nick Page and the
Corporate Leadership Team

Introductory meeting with the Corporate
Leadership Team (CLT) and to be briefed
on the Solihull Council Plan.

TBC
The Council, the Code of Conduct
and Declaring Interests
Deborah Merry, Head of Legal and
Democratic Services and Jane Game,
Democratic Services and Scrutiny Manager

To provide information about the Council’s
political management structure, meetings
and decision making and the Code of
Conduct for Councillors

TBC
Setting up Communications
Deborah Merry, Head of Legal and
Democratic Services, Alyson Glenn (IT
Services)

Contact dmerry@solihull.gov.uk to book
a slot for a 1:1 session on date to be
confirmed
Tuesday 18
May 2021 at
7.00pm

To be issued with i-pads and set up your
Council email account and the Modern.gov
agenda app. Understanding Council
policies relating to internet and email usage,
social media guidance, data protection and
keeping information safe

Annual Council Meeting

The Annual Meeting of the Council, at
which the new Mayor for 2021-2022 is
elected

Community Leadership and
Engagement

An overview of the Councillor’s community
advocacy role and the Council’s community
engagement activity that supports
Councillors in that role

TBC

Alison McGrory, Assistant Director, Stronger
Communities

TBC
Safeguarding
Bernice Linguard, Children’s Workforce
Development Co-ordinator

An overview of Adults and Childrens’
Safeguarding policies and procedures and
information on how to deal with
safeguarding enquiries and concerns

TBC
Scrutiny and Performance
Management

The Overview and Scrutiny process and the
role of Councillors in Performance
Management

Page 117

Paul Rogers, Democratic Services and
Scrutiny Officer and Sarah Barnes, Head of
Business Intelligence

TBC
Planning
Kim Allen Group Manager - Development
Management

For new and existing Members to get an
overview of planning procedures and
guidance.

TBC
Local Government Finance
Paul Johnson, Director of Resources &
Deputy Chief Executive and Senior
Managers of the Resources Directorate

To provide an overview of how the
Council’s services are funded and the
management of resources

TBC
Corporate Parenting
Emma Lightfoot, Independent Reviewing
Officer and Grace Harris, Advanced
Practitioner

The Council’s and Councillors’
responsibilities in respect of Corporate
Parenting and supporting Looked After
Children.

TBC
Safeguarding (repeat of earlier
session)
Bernice Linguard, Children’s Workforce
Development Co-ordinator

An overview of Adults and Childrens’
Safeguarding policies and procedures and
information on how to deal with
safeguarding enquiries and concerns

TBC
Solihull Community Housing (SCH)
Fiona Hughes, Chief Executive, SCH and
Members of the Executive Team

Introductory session with the Council’s
Housing Management company, Solihull
Community Housing

TBC
Equality and Diversity

Cultural awareness, equality and diversity

Karen Grant, Head of Equality & Diversity

Page 118

Agenda Item 7
Meeting date:

24 March 2021

Report to:

Governance Committee

Subject/report
title:

New Code of Conduct for Elected and Co-opted Members

Report from:

Monitoring Officer

Report
author/lead
contact officer:

Deborah Merry, Head of Legal and Democratic Services and
Monitoring Officer
dmerry@solihull.gov.uk 0121 704 6022

Wards affected:
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege
Public/private
report:

Public

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To ask the Committee to consider the new Local Government Association Model
Code of Conduct for Elected and Co-opted Members with a view to the Council
adopting the Code, either in whole or with modifications. As any new Code will need to
be included in the Council’s Constitution, any recommendation and the views of the
Committee will be reported to full Council for determination.

2.

Decision(s) recommended

2.1

The Committee is recommended to advise Council to adopt the Local Government
Association Model Code of Conduct, either in whole or with modifications with effect
from the start of the 2021/22 Municipal Year.

3.

Matters for Consideration

3.1

Under the provisions of the Localism Act 2011, all local authorities are required to
have a Code of Conduct for elected and co-opted members which covers ethical
standards and behaviour.

3.2

The Review of Local Government Ethical Standards by the Committee on Standards
in Public Life (CSPL), which published its report in 2019, recommended a new
national model Code of Conduct which will enable Councillors and co-opted members
to be held to account for the most serious or repeated breaches.

3.3

In response to this and as part of its work on supporting all tiers of local government to
continue to aspire to high standards of leadership and performance the Local

Page 119

Government Association (LGA) has developed a new Model Councillor Code of
Conduct following extensive consultation with the sector. The new Model was
published by the LGA in December 2020 with a headline statement that ‘This Code
has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good conduct and
safeguard the public’s trust in local government.’
3.4

The Council’s current Code of Conduct was adopted in 2012 and was reviewed in
2017 and 2019, resulting in some minor modifications being made. However the
majority of the content of the Code has remained largely the same since 2012. The
publication of the new model Code provides a good opportunity for the Council to
consider moving from its current Code to the new one, which should be widely
understood across the local government spectrum.

3.5

The content of the new model Code of Conduct is similar to Solihull’s existing Code of
Conduct with the differences being mainly in the level of description and
examples/definitions provided.

3.6

The new model Code of Conduct goes into more detail in defining specific
actions/behaviours that a Councillor should or should not exhibit, which is helpful in a
public facing document as it clearly sets out what the public can expect from their
elected members. It strengthens the links between the Seven Principles of Public Life
and the context in which they are to be observed and implemented.

3.7

The main points of the new model Code of Conduct are:
(a) The model Code applies when a member is acting in their capacity as a
Councillor and it clarifies that this can include when a member of the public
could reasonably have the impression a member was acting as a Councillor. It
encompasses all forms of communication and interaction, including conduct on
social media or where a Councillor refers publicly to their role or uses
knowledge they could only obtain in their role as a Councillor. The current Code
only applies where a Councillor is acting in their official capacity as a member
of the Council.
(b) The Code gives examples of what amounts to treating others with respect
and also how to deal with disrespectful behaviour from others.
(c) Definitions of bullying and harassment are included and there is an express
requirement to promote equalities and to not discriminate unlawfully.
(d) Councillors must not bring their role or local authority into disrepute
(e) Councillors must agree to undertake any Code of Conduct training provided,
co-operate with a Code of Conduct investigation, not intimidate any person
involved in any investigation and comply with any sanctions imposed.
(f) There is an obligation to register any gifts or hospitality regardless of value
which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain
(g) Gifts or hospitality of £50 or more in value must be registered as must any
that have been refused. The current Code requires Members to disclose to the
Monitoring Officer any offers of gifts or hospitality regardless of value.

Page 120

(h) The model Code sets out what members must do to register, declare and
behave in meetings where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest under the
Localism Act 2011, another registrable interest and a non-registrable interest.
“Non-registrable interests” are a new introduction to the Code of Conduct to
cover situations where a matter affects a member’s financial interest or
wellbeing, or that of a friend, relative or close associate.
In addition to the statutory Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, there is a
requirement to register membership of any body exercising functions of a public
nature, directed to charitable purposes or one of whose principle purposes
includes the influence of public opinion. This only applies to bodies to which the
Councillor has been appointed by the Council and mirrors those memberships
that were required to be registered under the 2007 national Code of Conduct.
Under the current Code of Conduct members are only required to declare those
interests that they are required by law to declare.
3.8

The new Model Code is attached.

3.9

Members are asked to consider the Model Code of Conduct and whether they wish to
recommend its adoption by the Council, either as drafted or with modifications. In
particular the Committee is asked to consider:
(a) Whether the threshold for the registration of gifts and hospitality should be
set at £50 (there is currently no threshold).
(b) Whether the Council should extend the obligation to declare interests to
include membership of outside bodies.

4.

Implications and Considerations

4.1

State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan:

Priority:

Contribution:

Economy:

Click here to enter text.

1. Revitalising our towns and local
centres.
2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the
opportunities of HS2.
3. Increase the supply of housing,
especially affordable and social
housing.
Environment:

Click here to enter text.

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment.
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality.
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions.

Page 121

People and Communities:
7. Take action to improve life chances in
our most disadvantaged communities.
8. Enable communities to thrive.
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable
provision for adults & children with
complex needs.
4.2

Having an up to date, comprehensive Code
of Conduct will help Members to understand
their responsibility to uphold high ethical
standards and will support them in their
Community Leadership role.

Consultation and Scrutiny:

4.2.1 The Model Code of Conduct has been widely consulted on by the LGA in summer
2020.
4.3

Financial implications:

4.3.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.
4.4

Legal implications:

4.4.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. The legislative
background to the ethical framework for local government bodies is set out in this
report. There have been no changes to the requirements in the Localism Act 2011 or
the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.
4.4.2 There is an expectation that all local authorities will consider the adoption of the new
national Code of Conduct. The adoption of the Code will assist the Council in
complying with its obligations under section 27 of the Localism Act 2011.
4.4.3 Any changes to the current Code of Conduct (and the Constitution) would be subject
to approval by the full Council.
4.5

Risk implications:

4.5.1 There is no direct risk to the organisation as a result of the contents of this report.
Having an up to date, comprehensive Code of Conduct will help Members to
understand their responsibility to uphold high ethical standards and in tum to reduce
the risk of reputational damage to the Council.
4.6

Equality implications:

4.6.1 The Council is subject to the public sector equality duty as set out in the Equalities Act
2010. The revised code reinforces the requirement to have regard to these duties at
all times, to prevent discrimination towards any person in relation to any of the
protected characteristics and the need to ensure that equality considerations are
integral to performance and strategic aims across the work of the authority.
5.

List of appendices referred to

5.1

LGA Model Code of Conduct.

Page 122

6.

Background papers used to compile this report

6.1

LGA Model Code of Conduct

7.

List of other relevant documents

7.1

None

Page 123

This page is intentionally left blank

Local Government Association
Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020

Joint statement
The role of councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our country’s
system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be held accountable and all
adopt the behaviors and responsibilities associated with the role. Our conduct as an
individual councillor affects the reputation of all councillors. We want the role of councillor to
be one that people aspire to. We also want individuals from a range of backgrounds and
circumstances to be putting themselves forward to become councillors.
As councillors, we represent local residents, work to develop better services and deliver
local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to represent our local
area; taking decisions fairly, openly, and transparently. We have both an individual and
collective responsibility to meet these expectations by maintaining high standards and
demonstrating good conduct, and by challenging behaviour which falls below expectations.
Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a councillor without being
intimidated, abused, bullied or threatened by anyone, including the general public.
This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good conduct and
safeguard the public’s trust in local government.

19 January 2021

Page 1 of 17

Page 125

Introduction
The Local Government Association (LGA) has developed this Model Councillor Code of
Conduct, in association with key partners and after extensive consultation with the sector,
as part of its work on supporting all tiers of local government to continue to aspire to high
standards of leadership and performance. It is a template for councils to adopt in whole
and/or with local amendments.
All councils are required to have a local Councillor Code of Conduct.
The LGA will undertake an annual review of this Code to ensure it continues to be fit- forpurpose, incorporating advances in technology, social media and changes in legislation. The
LGA can also offer support, training and mediation to councils and councillors on the
application of the Code and the National Association of Local Councils (NALC) and the
county associations of local councils can offer advice and support to town and parish
councils.

Definitions
For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “councillor” means a member or co-opted
member of a local authority or a directly elected mayor. A “co-opted member” is defined in
the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member of the authority but
who

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or;
b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint subcommittee of the authority;
and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that
committee or sub-committee”.
For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes county councils, district
councils, London borough councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and rescue
authorities, police authorities, joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, combined
authorities and National Park authorities.

Purpose of the Code of Conduct
The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a councillor, in modelling the
behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and to set out
the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is also to protect
you, the public, fellow councillors, local authority officers and the reputation of local
government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of all councillors and your
specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The LGA encourages the use of
support, training and mediation prior to action being taken using the Code. The
fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of
councillor and local government.

19 January 2021

Page 2 of 17

Page 126

General principles of councillor conduct
Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public services,
including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority officers; should uphold
the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan Principles.
Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed
specifically for the role of councillor.
In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:

•
•
•
•

I act with integrity and honesty
I act lawfully
I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and
I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role of
councillor.

In undertaking my role:

•
•
•
•
•

I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community
I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any
person
I avoid conflicts of interest
I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and
I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local
authority’s requirements and in the public interest.

Application of the Code of Conduct
This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of acceptance of
the office of councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted member and continues to
apply to you until you cease to be a councillor.
This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a councillor
which may include when:
•

you misuse your position as a councillor

•

Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public with
knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor;

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including:

19 January 2021

Page 3 of 17

Page 127

•

at face-to-face meetings

•

at online or telephone meetings

•

in written communication

•

in verbal communication

•

in non-verbal communication

•

in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and
comments.

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at all times
when acting as a councillor.
Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the Code of
Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring Officer on any
matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish councillors are
encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to the Monitoring
Officer.

Standards of councillor conduct
This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct required
of you as a councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a complaint may
be made against you, which may result in action being taken.
Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they should be
followed.
General Conduct

1. Respect
As a councillor:

1.1 I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect.
1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of partner
organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with respect and
respect the role they play.
Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word.
Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a councillor, you
can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a
robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people or
organisations to personal attack.

19 January 2021

Page 4 of 17

Page 128

In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude and
offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in councillors.
In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members of the
public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop any
conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local authority, the
relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow councillors, where
action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, and local authority
employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local authority’s councillorofficer protocol.

2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination
As a councillor:

2.1 I do not bully any person.
2.2 I do not harass any person.
2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any
person.
The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as
offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power
through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying might be
a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on social media, in
emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social events and may not always
be obvious or noticed by others.
The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that causes
alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at least
two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted communications and
contact upon a person in a manner that could be expected to cause distress or fear in any
reasonable person.
Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected
characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's
identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender reassignment,
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and
sexual orientation.
The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a central
role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's performance
and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public commitment to equality
across public services.

19 January 2021

Page 5 of 17

Page 129

3. Impartiality of officers of the council
As a councillor:

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of
anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority.
Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless they
are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way that would
undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to understand, for example,
their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that they
have written. However, you must not try and force them to act differently, change their
advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their professional
integrity.

4. Confidentiality and access to information
As a councillor:

4.1 I do not disclose information:
a. given to me in confidence by anyone
b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be
aware, is of a confidential nature, unless
i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to give it;
ii. I am required by law to do so;
iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of
obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third
party agrees not to disclose the information to any other
person; or
iv. the disclosure is:
1. reasonable and in the public interest; and
2. made in good faith and in compliance with the
reasonable requirements of the local authority; and
3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its
release.

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a
councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family members,
my employer or my business interests.

4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to by
law.
Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and printed
materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined circumstances. You should
work on this basis, but there will be times when it is required by law that discussions,
documents and other information relating to or held by the local authority must be treated in
a confidential manner. Examples include personal data relating to individuals or information
relating to ongoing negotiations.

19 January 2021

Page 6 of 17

Page 130

5. Disrepute
As a councillor:

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.
As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and your
actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the
public. You should be aware that your actions might have an adverse impact on you, other
councillors and/or your local authority and may lower the public’s confidence in your or your
local authority’s ability to discharge your/it’s functions. For example, behaviour that is
considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring your local authority into disrepute.
You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able to
constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes undertaken by
the council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of Conduct.

6. Use of position
As a councillor:

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage or
disadvantage of myself or anyone else.
Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain opportunities,
responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time that will impact others.
However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to further your own or
others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly.

7. Use of local authority resources and facilities
As a councillor:

7.1 I do not misuse council resources.
7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local or authorising their use by
others:
a.
act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and
b.
ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes unless
that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, or be
conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the local authority or of
the office to which I have been elected or appointed.
You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you in
carrying out your duties as a councillor.
Examples include:

•
•
•
•
•

office support
stationery
equipment such as phones, and computers
transport
access and use of local authority buildings and rooms.

19 January 2021

Page 7 of 17

Page 131

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more effectively and
are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in accordance with
the purpose for which they have been provided and the local authority’s own policies
regarding their use.

8. Complying with the Code of Conduct
As a Councillor:

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority.
8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or
determination.

8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be
involved with the administration of any investigation or proceedings.

8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I have
breached the Code of Conduct.
It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for you to
have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in the local
authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned about the local
authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this with your Monitoring
Officer.
Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority

9. Interests
As a councillor:

9.1 I register and disclose my interests.
Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and
maintain a register of interests of members of the authority .
You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and fellow
councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. The register
is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The register
also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and a willingness to be held
accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding whether or not you should
disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know early on if others think
that a potential conflict might arise. It is also important that the public know about any
interest that might have to be disclosed by you or other councillors when making or taking
part in decisions, so that decision making is seen by the public as open and honest. This
helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained.
You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set
out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011.
Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If in
doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer.

19 January 2021

Page 8 of 17

Page 132

10. Gifts and hospitality
As a councillor:

10.1

I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which
could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable
suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from persons seeking to
acquire, develop or do business with the local authority or from persons
who may apply to the local authority for any permission, licence or other
significant advantage.

10.2

I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an
estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt.

10.3

I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or
hospitality that I have been offered but have refused to accept.

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should
exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you reasonably
believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The presumption should always
be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, there may be times when such a
refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in which case you could accept it but must
ensure it is publicly registered. However, you do not need to register gifts and hospitality
which are not related to your role as a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends
and family. It is also important to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and
hospitality associated with your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your
Monitoring Officer for guidance.

19 January 2021

Page 9 of 17

Page 133

Appendices
Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life
The principles are:
Selflessness
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.
Integrity
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or
organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should not
act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves,
their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests and relationships.
Objectivity
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using
the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.
Accountability
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and
must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.
Openness
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner.
Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful
reasons for so doing.
Honesty
Holders of public office should be truthful.
Leadership
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They should
actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge poor
behaviour wherever it occurs.

19 January 2021

Page 10 of 17

Page 134

Appendix B Registering interests
Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you must
register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in
Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register
details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2
(Other Registerable Interests).
“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are
aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below.
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband
or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28
days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered
interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the
councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence
or intimidation.

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with
the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer
agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.
Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable
Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not
participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room
unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not
have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest.
Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate
and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is
being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function,
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or
further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it
Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other
Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You
may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at
the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter
and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it
is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.
19 January 2021

Page 11 of 17

Page 135

Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests
7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest
or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in Table 1) or a
financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must disclose the
interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed
to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote
on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a
dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of
the interest.

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –
a. your own financial interest or well-being;
b. a financial interest or well-being of a relative, close associate; or
c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Other Registrable
Interests as set out in Table 2
you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the
meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being:
a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it
would affect your view of the wider public interest
You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to
speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote
on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a
dispensation.
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you have
made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make sure that any
written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of your interest.

19 January 2021

Page 12 of 17

Page 136

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.
Subject
Employment, office, trade,
profession or vocation

Description
Any employment, office, trade,
profession or vocation carried on for
profit or gain.
[Any unpaid directorship.]

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other
financial benefit (other than from the
council) made to the councillor during the
previous 12-month period for expenses
incurred by him/her in carrying out
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards
his/her election expenses.
This includes any payment or financial
benefit from a trade union within the
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts

Any contract made between the
councillor or his/her spouse or civil
partner or the person with whom the

19 January 2021

Page 13 of 17

Page 137

councillor is living as if they were
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which
such person is a partner, or an incorporated
body of which such person is a director* or
a body that such person has a beneficial
interest in the securities of*) and the council
—
(a) under which goods or services are to be
provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.
Land and Property

Any beneficial interest in land which is
within the area of the council.
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude,
interest or right in or over land which does
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the
councillor is living as if they were spouses/
civil partners (alone or jointly with another)
a right to occupy or to receive income.

Licenses

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to
occupy land in the area of the council for a
month or longer
Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s
knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the council; and
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor,
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the
person with whom the councillor is living as
if they were spouses/ civil partners is a
partner of or a director* of or has a
beneficial interest in the securities* of.

Corporate tenancies

Securities

19 January 2021

Any beneficial interest in securities* of a
body where—
(a) that body (to the councillor’s
knowledge) has a place of business or
land in the area of the council; and
(b) either—
(i) ) the total nominal value of the
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of
more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the
councillor is living as if they were
Page 14 of 17

Page 138

spouses/civil partners has a beneficial
interest exceeds one hundredth of the
total issued share capital of that class.
* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and
provident society.

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building
society.
Table 2: Other Registrable Interests

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is
likely to affect:
a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you
are nominated or appointed by your authority
b) any body
(i) exercising functions of a public nature
(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion
or policy (including any political party or trade union)

19 January 2021

Page 15 of 17

Page 139

Appendix C – the Committee on Standards in Public Life
The LGA has undertaken this review whilst the Government continues to consider the
recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life in their report on
Local Government Ethical Standards. If the Government chooses to implement any of the
recommendations, this could require a change to this Code.
The recommendations cover:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Recommendations for changes to the Localism Act 2011 to clarify in law when the
Code of Conduct applies
The introduction of sanctions
An appeals process through the Local Government Ombudsman
Changes to the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests)
Regulations 2012
Updates to the Local Government Transparency Code
Changes to the role and responsibilities of the Independent Person
That the criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable
Pecuniary Interests should be abolished

The Local Government Ethical Standards report also includes Best Practice
recommendations. These are:
Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and harassment in
codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and harassment,
supplemented with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered by such a definition.
Best practice 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct requiring
councillors to comply with any formal standards investigation and prohibiting trivial or
malicious allegations by councillors.
Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their code of conduct each year and
regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, community organisations and
neighbouring authorities.
Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both councillors and
the public, in a prominent position on a council’s website and available in council premises.
Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at least
once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV.
Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest test
against which allegations are filtered.
Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent
Persons.
Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to undertake a
formal investigation on an allegation, and should be given the option to

19 January 2021

Page 16 of 17

Page 140

review and comment on allegations which the responsible officer is minded to dismiss
as being without merit, vexatious, or trivial.
Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of misconduct
following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as soon as possible
on its website, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of the code engaged by
the allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the reasoning of the decision-maker,
and any sanction applied.
Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible guidance
on its website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the process for
handling complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and outcomes.
Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish councillor
towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council, rather than the clerk in
all but exceptional circumstances.
Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support and
management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish councils
within the remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with adequate training,
corporate support and resources to undertake this work.
Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address any
conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps should
include asking the Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake the
investigation.
Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or which
they own as part of their annual governance statement and give a full picture of their
relationship with those bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities should abide by
the Nolan principle of openness and publish their board agendas and minutes and annual
reports in an accessible place.
Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders or group
whips to discuss standards issues.

The LGA has committed to reviewing the Code on an annual basis to ensure it is still
fit for purpose.

19 January 2021

Page 17 of 17

Page 141

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Meeting date:

24 March 2021

Report to:

Governance Committee

Subject/report title:

INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL REVIEW OF SPECIAL
RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES FOR MINORITY GROUP LEADERS

Report from:

Head of Legal & Democratic Services

Report author/lead
contact officer:

Deborah Merry

Wards affected:
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege
Public/private
report:

Public

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To consider the report of the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) and make
recommendations to Council in respect of the Special Responsibility Allowances for minority
political group leaders in the Council’s Members’ Allowances Scheme.

2.

Decision(s) recommended
The Committee is requested to make recommendations to Council in respect of the Special
Responsibility Allowances in the Council’s Members’ Allowances Scheme.

3.

Matters for Consideration

3.1

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003
the Council is required to make a scheme for the payment of Allowances to Members. In
doing so the Council must have regard to the report of its Independent Remuneration Panel
(IRP).

3.2

Following receipt of the Independent Remuneration Panel’s report and recommendations for
the payment of Members’ Allowances for 2020-21 and 2021-22 in March this year, the
Governance Committee requested a further review of the Special Responsibility Allowances
payable to the leaders of the minority political groups.

3.3

The report of the Independent Remuneration Panel on this aspect of the Members’
Allowances Scheme is attached at appendix A.

3.4

Financial implications:

3.5

The recommendation of the Independent Remuneration Panel is that the existing Scheme of
Members Allowances remains unchanged therefore there are no financial implications arising

Page 143

from this recommendation.
3.6

Legal implications:

3.6.1

The Council has a legal obligation to have regard to the recommendations of an Independent
Remuneration Panel before setting a Scheme of Members’ Allowances.

4.

List of appendices referred to

4.1

Appendix A – Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP), December 2020.

5.

Background papers used to compile this report

5.1

None

Page 144

REPORT TO
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL
BY
THE INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL

REVIEW OF SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES FOR MINORITY
POLITICAL GROUP LEADERS

December 2020

Page 145

1

FOREWORD

To the Chief Executive and Members of Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council

The Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council Independent Remuneration Panel was
established under the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations
2003 to provide advice and recommendations to the Council on amounts to be paid under
its Members’ Allowances scheme. Members of the Panel are appointed by the Council
and are independent members of the local community.
Following receipt of our report and recommendations for the payment of Members’
Allowances for 2020-21 and 2021-22 in March 2020, the Council’s Governance
Committee requested a further review of the Special Responsibility Allowances payable
to the leaders of the minority political groups. This report is presented to the Council in
accordance with the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations
2003. In conducting this review, the Independent Remuneration Panel has had regard to
the 2006 Statutory Guidance on Members Allowances.
The Council is required to have regard to our recommendations in deciding what
allowances to pay Councillors. These recommendations seek to ensure that the
Members’ Allowances Scheme is fair, transparent and provides a clarity and consistency
in terms of the positions eligible to receive allowances.
The Council must publish our recommendations and conclusions, together with the
approved scheme of allowances.

Russell Downing
Chairman of the Independent Remuneration Panel

December 2020

Page 146

2

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR COUNCILLORS’ REMUNERATION
1.

The Independent Remuneration Panel

1.1.1

The current members of the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) were
appointed by Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council (SMBC) in October 2016 for
the purpose of the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England)
Regulations 2003.

1.1.2

The members of the IRP are shown in Appendix 1 (page 6).

1.1.3

The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 enable
allowances schemes to make provision for Councillors’ Basic and Special
Responsibility Allowances, pensions, travelling and subsistence allowances and
co-optees allowances and it falls to the IRP to make recommendations about
these matters.

1.1.4

It is for the Council to decide on the Members’ Allowances Scheme that is put in
place, having regard to the Panel’s recommendations.

2.

Scope of this Report

2.1.1

In March 2020 the Independent Remuneration Panel concluded a review of the
Members’ Allowances Scheme and made recommendations to the Council for the
period 2020 – 2022.

2.1.2

Following receipt of our report and recommendations for the payment of
Members’ Allowances for 2020-21 and 2021-22 in March 2020, the Council’s
Governance Committee requested a further review of the Special Responsibility
Allowances payable to the leaders of the minority political groups.

2.1.3

This report sets out our recommendations for the Special Responsibility
Allowances payable to the leaders of the minority political groups.

3.

Information provided to the Panel

3.1.1

The Panel met in November 2020 and also liaised outside of the meeting. The
Panel was provided with the following information:

3.1.2



The current political make-up and political management arrangements of
the Council.



Benchmarking data on Special Responsibility Allowances paid to political
group leaders by other metropolitan authorities within the West Midlands.

The Panel invited the Leaders of each of the political groups on the Council to
raise any aspects of the allowances that they wished to bring to the attention of
the IRP. No points were put forward by the political group leaders for
consideration.

Page 147

3

3.1.3

The current political composition of the Council as at November 2020 is:
Party

Number of Seats

Conservative
Green
Liberal Democrat
Labour
Independent
Vacancy
Total Members

26
14
5
3
2
1
51

3.1.4

The current allowance rates were set by the Council on 7th July 2020 after having
regard to the report of the Independent Remuneration Panel dated March 2020.

3.1.5

The Special Responsibility Allowances currently payable are as follows:
Leader of the Council

£23,740

Group Leader (10 or more Councillors)

£9,496

Group Leader (5-9 Councillors)

£4,748

Group Leader (less than 5 Councillors)

£2,375

3.1.6

These allowances are payable in addition to the Basic Allowance of £9,750 which
every Councillor receives.

3.1.7

The Panel noted the statutory Guidance on Consolidated Regulations for Local
Authority Allowances.
The guidance provides that a Special responsibility
allowance (SRA) may be paid to those members of the Council who have
significant additional responsibilities, over and above the generally accepted
duties of a Councillor. These special responsibilities must be related to the
discharge of the authority’s functions.

3.1.8

The Panel acknowledged the importance of a robust political opposition in
ensuring transparency and accountability of executive decision making in a local
authority. The Panel recognizes the significant responsibility of the Leader of the
Opposition political group in this democratic process.

3.1.9

The current allowance for the Leader of a Group with 10 or more Councillors (at
present applicable to the official opposition leader on the Council) is set at the
equivalent rate to that payable to a Cabinet member (£9,496), which the Panel
consider to be appropriate based on the level of responsibility of this role.

3.1.10 The Council’s scheme provides a smaller allowance of £4,748 for the Leader of a
group with 5-9 Councillors, and an allowance of £2,375 for the Leader a group
with less than 5 Councillors.
3.1.11 The Panel considered the level of additional responsibility carried by the Leader
of a smaller minority political group and concluded that in terms of the overall
discharge of the Council’s functions, the responsibility of the leader of a smaller
minority group was not significant.
3.1.12 The Panel noted that the Solihull MBC Members’ Allowances Scheme is more
inclusive than any other of the West Midlands metropolitan authorities in that it is

Page 148

4

the only Scheme to provide a Group Leader’s Allowance for a political group with
less than 5 members.
3.1.13 The Independent Remuneration Panel therefore recommends that the Special
Responsibility Allowances for the Leaders of the minority political groups be
retained at the current rates.

Page 149

5

APPENDIX 1

SOLIHULL INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL MEMBERS

Mr David Billingham
David is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development. He has over
30 years’ experience in Human Resources including a number of years as a consultant
with Price Waterhouse and as Human Resources Director for Serco Local Government &
Commercial. Most recently he was interim Director of HR Transformation and interim
Director of Talent & Development for Mitie plc. David is a resident of Solihull Borough
and has been a member of the Independent Remuneration Panel since 2007.”

Mr Russell Downing (Chairman)
Russell is currently an Independent Associate to one of the UK’s lead technology
companies specialising in Building Automation Services. He has over 30 years’
experience working for corporate information and control technology companies, holding
project management positions. He is extensively trained with enforcing the companies
compliance procedures in line with UK and European law. He is also an elected Trustee
for a Pension Fund of one of the UK’s leading electrical manufacturing companies. He is
a resident of Solihull Borough and joined the Independent Remuneration in 2016. He is
currently Chairman of the Panel.

Mrs Patricia Smith
Patricia is a retired resident of Solihull and a non-executive director and vice-chair of
Solihull Community Housing, where she is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee.
She was previously chair of the Colebridge Trust and was involved in its inception.
Although no longer playing an active role she maintains a real interest in its ongoing
development, and she was also involved in Waterloo Woodwork and Community
Transport.
Patricia was appointed as a member of the Independent Remuneration
Panel in 2016.

Dr Nerys Williams
Nerys is a Consultant Occupational Physician and former non-executive director at
Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust. She works as a civil
servant and as an Associate for the General Medical Council. She is a resident of
Solihull Borough and has been a member of the Independent Remuneration Panel since
its inception in 2003.

Page 150

6

Agenda Item 9
Meeting date:

24 March 2021

Report to:

Governance Committee

Subject/report
title:

Updates to Constitutional Standing Orders

Report from:

Head of Legal & Democratic Services and Monitoring Officer

Report
author/lead
contact officer:

Deborah Merry
dmerry@solihull.gov.uk 0121 704 6022

Wards affected:
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege
Public/private
report:

Public

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To update the Council’s Constitutional Standing Orders to reflect current practice.

2.

Decision(s) recommended

2.1

That Standing Order 38 be updated to provide for the Appeals Panel to be comprised
of 3 Members, and for the membership of the Remuneration Committee to reflect
current practice.

3.

Matters for Consideration

3.1

Standing Order 38 in the Council’s Constitutional Procedure Rules provides for the
appointment of Committees and Boards and sets out the membership of each body.

3.2

Under Standing Order 38, an Appeals Panel appointed by Governance Committee as
and when there are appeals to be heard, should be comprised of 5 members of the
Committee.

3.3

However, the practice of setting up Appeals Panels of 3 members has emerged over
the years as a practical solution to the difficulties experienced in getting 5 members
together for ad hoc meetings which are often held during the working day. It is
considered that an Appeals Panel of 3 members works well and it is proposed that
Standing Order 38 should be amended to stipulate that only 3 members are required.

3.4

Standing Order 38 also provides that the Remuneration Committee should be
comprised of ‘7 Members of the Council and an independent Chairman.’ However,

Page 151

when the Council passed its original resolution to establish a Remuneration
Committee it was agreed that there should be an independent non-voting member of
the Committee who would be a co-opted local business leader. The independent
member was not intended to be the Chairman of the Committee, and in practice the
independent member has never been elected as Chairman of the Committee.
3.5

It is therefore proposed that Standing Order 38 be amended to correct this inaccuracy.

4.

What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about
them?

4.1

N/a

5.

Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1

N/a

6.

Implications and Considerations

6.1

State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan:

Priority:

Contribution:

Economy:

Click here to enter text.

1. Revitalising our towns and local
centres.
2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the
opportunities of HS2.
3. Increase the supply of housing,
especially affordable and social
housing.
Environment:

Click here to enter text.

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment.
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality.
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions.
People and Communities:

Click here to enter text.

7. Take action to improve life chances in
our most disadvantaged communities.
8. Enable communities to thrive.
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable
provision for adults & children with
complex needs.
6.2

Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.2.1 N/a

Page 152

6.3

Financial implications:

6.3.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.
6.4

Legal implications:

6.4.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.
6.5

Risk implications:

6.5.1 N/a
6.6

Equality implications:

6.6.1 N/a
7.

List of appendices referred to

7.1

None

8.

Background papers used to compile this report

8.1

Solihull MBC Constitutional Standing Orders last updated July 2016

9.

List of other relevant documents

9.1

Full Council Meeting minute from July 2013

Page 153

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Meeting date:

24th March 2021

Report to:

Governance committee

Subject/report
title:

RIPA – Annual report

Report from:

Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive

Report
author/lead
contact officer:

Andrew Kinsey
akinsey@solihull.gov.uk
0121 704 6146

Wards affected:
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege
Public/private
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue
of paragraph:

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To provide members with an annual update on the use of RIPA powers.

2.

Decision(s) recommended

2.1

Governance Committee is requested to note the Council’s use and compliance with
RIPA.

3.

Matters for Consideration

3.1

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) governs the acquisition and
disclosure of communications data and the use of covert surveillance by local
authorities.

3.2

The Council uses powers under RIPA to support its core functions for the purpose of
prevention and detection of crime where an offence may be punishable by a custodial
sentence of 6 months or more, or is related to the underage sale of alcohol and
tobacco. The three powers available to local authorities under RIPA are:
(a)

the acquisition and disclosure of communications data;

Page 155

(b)

directed surveillance;

(c)

and covert human intelligence sources (“CHIS”).

3.3

The Act sets out the procedures that the Council must follow if it wishes to use
directed surveillance techniques or acquire communications data in order to support
core function activities (e.g. typically those undertaken by Trading Standards and
Environmental Health). The information obtained as a result of such operations can
later be relied upon in court proceedings providing RIPA is complied with.

3.4

The Home Office Code for Covert Surveillance Property Interference recommends
that elected members, whilst not involved in making decisions or specific
authorisations for the local authority to use its powers under Part II of the Act, should
review the Council’s use of the legislation and provide approval to its policies. The
Council adopted this approach for oversight of the authority’s use of Parts I and II of
the Act.

3.5

RIPA governs the acquisition and disclosure of communications data and the use of
covert surveillance by local authorities. The Council can only use powers under RIPA
to support its core functions for the purpose of prevention and detection of crime
where an offence may be punishable by a custodial sentence of 6 months or more
(e.g. offences relating to counterfeit goods which carry a maximum penalty of 10 years
in prison) or the offence is related to the underage sale of alcohol and/or tobacco.

3.6

Where the above criteria are met, Local Authorities can make an application for the
acquisition and disclosure of communications data (such as telephone billing
information or subscriber details) or directed surveillance (covert surveillance of
individuals in public places); and the use of covert human intelligence sources(“CHIS”)
(such as the deployment of undercover officers). The powers are most commonly
used by Trading Standards and audit/fraud investigators for e.g. tenancy fraud.
However, powers can also be used by other Council services if their offences meet
the serious crime threshold, mentioned above.

3.7

RIPA sets out the procedure that local authorities must follow when applying to use
RIPA powers. These include approval by Authorised Officers that the proposed use of
the powers is “necessary and proportionate”. All applications must also be approved
by the Magistrates Court before RIPA powers can be exercised.

3.8

The Council is required to have a Senior Responsible Officer to maintain oversight of
the RIPA arrangements, procedures and operations. The Council’s Director of
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive performs this function and is responsible for
the integrity of the Council’s process for managing the requirements under RIPA.

3.9

The Investigatory Powers Commissioner's Office (IPCO) is responsible for the judicial
oversight of the use of covert surveillance by public authorities throughout the United
Kingdom.

3.10

The acquisition of communications data is undertaken through the National Antifraud
Network (NAFN). They act as the single point of contact for many local authorities and
ensure the application is RIPA compliant. It is NAFN that are audited by the
commissioners.

Page 156

3.11

Details of the applications that the Council has made under RIPA are set out below:
Period 1st January 2020 – 31st December 2020
Use of Directed Surveillance or Covert
0
Human Intelligence Sources

3.12

No. of Directed Surveillance
Applications Rejected

0

No. of Directed Surveillance
Applications Granted

0

No. of Authorisations Presented to
Magistrates

0

No. of Authorisations Granted by
Magistrates

0

No. of Authorisations Rejected by
Magistrates

0

No. of Directed Surveillance Operations
Remaining Extant

0

Use of Acquisition & Disclosure of Communications Data
No applications for the disclosure of communications data were made during the
above period.

3.13

RIPA Policy/Procedure
The Council is required to have a Policy/Procedure to govern how it will exercise its
RIPA powers. This Policy/Procedure was revised and approved by Governance
Committee last year and there is no need to make any changes to that policy at this
time.

4.

What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about
them?

4.1

The Governance Committee is recommended to consider and note the Annual
Compliance Report, which sets out how the Council has used its powers during the
reporting periods of the individual Commissioners.

5.

Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1

The Council is required to have an up to date policy/procedure in order to exercise its
powers.

Page 157

6.

Implications and Considerations

6.1

State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan:
Priority:

Contribution:

Economy:

None.

1. Revitalising our towns and local
centres.
2. UK Central (UKC) and
maximising the opportunities of
HS2.
3. Increase the supply of housing,
especially affordable and social
housing.

6.2

Environment:
4. Enhance Solihull’s natural
environment.
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality.
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon
emissions.

None.

People and Communities:
7. Take action to improve life
chances in our most
disadvantaged communities.
8. Enable communities to thrive.
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable
provision for adults & children
with complex needs.

None.

Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.2.1 There is no requirement to consult on this procedure.
6.3

Financial implications:

6.3.1 None as a direct result of this report.
6.4

Legal implications:

6.4.1 The Council is required to report the annual use of RIPA powers to governance
committee.
6.5

Risk implications:

6.5.1 None as a direct result of this report.
6.6

Equality implications:

6.6.1 None as a direct result of this report.

Page 158

7.

List of appendices referred to

7.1

None

8.

Background papers used to compile this report

8.1

None.

9.

List of other relevant documents

9.1

None.

Page 159

This page is intentionally left blank

